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REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF THE MANAGEMENT COMPANY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Dear Investor,
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to present Pakistan Income Fund
accounts review [or the year ended June 30, 2024.

Economy Revicew

Fiscal year 2024 marked a period of macroeconomic recovery for Pakistan, averting a
looming default brought about by continued economic mismanagement. This turnaround
was primarily attributed to Pakistan entering a new IMF program after several months of
delay. The government secured a much-needed Stand-by Arrangement (SBA) facility of
USD 3.0 billion from the IMF in June 23, and managed to receive timely rollovers from
friendly countries. It also showed unwavering commitment to remain compliant with the
IMF targets and as a result government was able to successfully complete the program.
The caretaker government took office in August 2023 and immediately faced speculative
pressure on the currency, causing it to spike to a record high of 307 in the interbank
market. Exchange rate in informal market rcached a higher of near 330 PKR/USD
reflecting an increase of speculative activity and rampant uncertainty. The government
took decisive steps against smuggling of dollar, abuse of Afghan Transit and illegal
money dealers in September 2023, which spurred a rapid recovery in the exchange rate.
This helped in improving confidence and narrower spreads in open and interbank rates.
The authorities also placed mechanisms to strictly monitor exchange rate paymenis io
manage the overall external balance. Combination of both administration measures and
steps to discipline external and fiscal accounts helped restore overall stability. The USD
PKR close the year at 278.3 appreciating by 2.6% since the start of the year.

Country posted a current account deficit (CAD) of USD 464 mmllion in the hirst eleven
months of the fiscal year 2024 (1 IMFY24) declining by 88% YoY compared to a deficit
ol USD 3.8 billion in the corresponding period last year. Narrowing trade deficit was the
major contributor towards improving CAD as 11.3% increase in exports coupled with an
2.3% drop in mmports led to a 17.0% contraction in the trade deficit. The county’s
external position improved with SBP’s loreign exchange reserves increasing to USD 9.4
billion as of June 2024 compared to USD 4.4 billion at the end of last fiscal year. This
was on account of flows from the IMF, friendly countries and multilateral sources.
Headline inflation represented by CPl averaged 23.9% during the fiscal year 2024
compared to 29.0% last year. Inflation remained on the higher side as massive currency
depreciation in the prior periods led to surge in food and energy prices. The government
also hiked electricity base tarilT and gas prices to comply with the IMF conditions, which
led to further inflationary pressures. The SBP reduced the policy rate by 150bps to 20.5%
in the last monetary policy of the year held on June 10, 2024. The monetary policy noted
a significant decline in inflation, resulting in a substantially positive real interest rate,
which justifies initiating a monetary easing cycle.

The country’s GDP grew by 2.4% in the linancial year 2023-24 as compared to -0.2%
last year. Agriculture grew by 6.3%, Services and industrial sector witnessed a paltry
increase of 1.2% ecach. Hisitoric high interest rates coupled with political uncertainty were
the major culprits behind the subdued industrial and services output. On the fiscal side,
FBR tax collection increased by 29.6% in FY24 to PKR 9,285 hillion, missing the target
by a modest PKR 130 billion.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF THE MANAGEMENT COMPANY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

FUND PERFORMANCE

During the period under review, the [und generated a returm of 21.50% as against its
benchmark return of 24.53%.

At period end, the fund was invested 19.3% in T-Bills, 35% in PIBs and 15.5% in
TFC/Sukuks. The weighted average maturity of the [und stood at 3.6 years.

The Net Assets of the Fund as at June 30, 2024, stood at Rs. 1,899 million as compared (o
Rs. 2,724 million as at June 30, 2023 registering a decrease of 30.29%.

The Net Asset Value (NAV) per unit as at June 30, 2024 was Rs. 54.9452 as compared to
the opening NAV of Rs. 54.6443 per unit as at June 30, 2023 registering an increase ol
Rs. 0.3009 per unit.

Economy & Market — Future Outlook

Pakistan GDP is expected to rebound to 3.5% in FY25 afler a disappointing performance
last year where the GDP increased by only 2.4%. The outlook for industrial output is
relatively optimistic with an expected growth of 4.0% compared to 1.2% last year.
Macroeconomic stability, stable currency and decline in interest rates will help revive the
industrial and service sector growth. Agriculture performance is likely to remain on the
lower side due Lo high base efTecl.

A new stafT-level loan agreement has been reached between Pakistan and the
International Monetary Fund (IMF) under which the country will receive USD 7.0 billion
over 37 months. The fnal approval of the loan will be given by the IMF Executive
Board. Successlul continuation of the IMF program is a key positive as it will allow us Lo
tap funding from bilateral and multilateral sources. However, our external position stll
remains precarious due to debt outflows and our inability to raise funds through
international Eurobond or Sukuk. Thuos, we would continue (o run a sustainable current
account this year to stave off external concerns. We expect a CAD of USD 1.0 billion
(0.2% of GDP) in FY25 as policy of consolidation is likely to continue under the IMF
umbrella.

The USD PKR is expected to remain stable as the government is focusing on improving
current account deficit on the back of recovery in export and remittances. Entry into the
new IMF program will also increase visibility on the external funding. We expect
USLYVPKR Lo close the fiscal year around PKR 311.

The inflation reading has started to come down due to base effect and relatvely stable
currency. The headline inflattion number in June 2024 clocked of 12.6% compared to a
high of 38.0% in May 2023, The core inflation also registered a significant slowdown,
clocking at 14.1% which is a low of 23 months. The inflation reading is expected to
decline to single digits in 1HFY25. Keeping in view the inflationary trends, external and
fiscal posiion we expect interest rate to decline to 14-15% by June 25.

For debt holders, we expect Money Market Funds to continue to seamlessly mirror policy
rates throughout the year. Investors with a mid to long term view can benefit rom Bond
and Income Funds where higher duration will create opportunities for capital gains in the
wake of Interest rate outlook. We have added government bonds in Income Funds to
benefit from the expected monetary easing in the near term.

Muigal Fand Industry Review

The Net Assets of the open-end mutual funds industry increased by about 64.6% during
FY24 1o PKR 2,574 billion. Total money market funds grew by about 45.0% since June
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2023. Within the money markel sphere, conventional [unds showed a growth of 33.0% to
PKR 629 billion while Islamic [unds increased by 58 2% to PKR 679 billion. In addition,
the total lixed Income lunds increased by aboul 104.7% since June 2023 1o PKR 756
billion while Equity and related [unds increased by 52.3% 1o PKR 255 bilhon.

In terms ol the segment share, Money Market [unds were the leader with a share ol
around 50.8%., [ollowed by Income [unds with 37.3% and Equily and Equity related
funds having a share ol 9.9% as at the end of June 30, 2024.

Muitual Fand Industry Outlook

Both Bonds and Equities are likely to do well in the next year on the back ol cul in
interest rates. During the year, significant interest of investors is already visible in
Income Funds while equity [und i1s likely to see inflows post new IMF agreement
Relatively High interest rates during the period would encourage sustamed [lows in the
money markel [unds as they are ideal for investors with a shori-term honzon and low risk
prolile.

Our operations remained seamless and given our compelitive edge in digital access and
online customer experience, we are prepared to gel benefits ol the growing number of
investors available online.

MANAGEMENT COMPANY

On Apnl 18, 2023, MCB Bank Limited (MCB), being the parent company of MCB-Anl
Habib Savings and Investments Limiled, has acquired 21,664,167 (30.09%) shares ol
MCB-Anl Habib Savings & Investmenit Limited (MCB-AH) [rom Aril Habib
Corporation Limited (AHCL). By wvirtue ol this transaction MCB Bank Limited’s
shareholding in MCB-AH has increased [rom 36,956,768 (51.33%) shares to 58,620,935
(#1.42%) and AHCL no longer holds any shares m MCB-AH.

Consequently, members ol the Company in an Extra Ordinary General Meeting (EOGM)
held on July 07, 2023 have resolved via special resolution that the name ol the Company
be changed from MCB-Anl Habib Savings and Investments Limited to MCB Investment
Management Limiled and Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) has
approved the change in name on August 15, 2023,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Fund 1s committed to implement the highest standards ol corporate governance. The
Board compnises ol eight (8) members including the Chiel Executive Ollicer (CEQO) and
has a diverse mix ol gender and knowledge. The Board consists of 1 female and 7 male
direciors, categorized as [ollows:

o 4 Non - Execulive Direclors;
o 3 Independent Direclors; and

e | Executive Director (CEQ).

The details ol above are as under:
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sr
No.

W NEs A W e

Name

Mr. Haroun Rashid
Mr. Shoaitb Mumtaz

Mr. Ahmed Jahangir

Mr. Manzar Mushtag
Syed Savail Meekal
Hussain

Mr. Fahd Kamal Chinoy
Ms. Mavra Adil Khan

Mr. Khawaja Khalil
Shah

Status

Mon-Executive Director
Mon-Executive Director

Non-Executive Director
Non-Executive Director
Independent Director

Independent Director
Independent Director

Executlive Direclor

Membership in other Board

Committees

MNone

HR&R* Commutice

HR&R* Committee
Audit Committee

Audit Commuitiee
Audit Commutiee (Chairman)

HR&R* Committee (Chairman)
HR&R* Commiltee

HRE&ER* Commitiee

* HR&R stands lor Human Resource and Remuneration

Management is continuing to comply with the provisions of best practices set out in the
code of corporate governance. The Fund remains committed to conduct business in line
with listing regulations of Pakistan Stock Exchange, which clearly defined the role and
responsibilities of Board of Directors and Management.

The Board of Directors is pleased to report that:

d.

The financial statements, present fairly the state of affairs, the results of operations,
cash flows and changes in equity;

Proper books of accounts of the fund have been maintained;

Appropriate accounting policies as stated in the notes to the financial statements
have been consistently applied in preparation of (inancial statements and
accounting estimates are based on reasonable and prudent judgment;

International Financial Reporting Standards, as applicable in Pakistan, provisions of
the Non-Banking Finance Companies (Establishment & Regulations) Rules, 2003,
Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008,
requirements ol the respective Trust Deeds and directives 1ssued by the Securities
& Exchange Commission of Pakistan have been followed in the preparation of

[inancial statements.;

The system of internal control is sound in design and has been effectively
implemented and monitored with ongoing efforis to improve it further;
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f.

There are no significant doubts upon the fund’s ability to continue as going
COTCETT;

. There has been no material departure from the best practices of Corporate

Governance, as detailed in the listing regulations;

. The outstanding taxes, statutory charges and duties. if any, have been fully

disclosed in the audited financial statements;

The statement as to the value of investments of provident/gratuity and pension fund
is not applicable on the Fund but applies to the Management Company; hence no
disclosure has been made in the Directors™ Report.

As at June 30. 2024, the Company i1s in compliance with the requirements of
Directors’ Training Program, as contained in Regulation No. 20 of the Code:

. The detailed pattern of shareholding as on June 30, 2024 is annexed;

A formal and effective mechanism is put in place for an annual evaluation of the
Board’s own performance, members of the Board and Committees of the Board;

. The details of attendance of Board of Directors meeting is disclosed in financial

statements. Below are the details of committee meetings held during the year ended
June 30, 2024:

1. Meeting of the Audit Committec.

During the year, four (4) meetings of the Audit Committee were held. The
attendance of each participant is as follows:

Number Number of meetings
of
Name of Persons Aseatiings Attﬂnc-':;:c Nitendied l_.:n:r:d
held requi gran
1 Syed fj]avall Meekal 4 4 4 o
Hussain
2. Mr. Ahmed Jahangir -4 4 -4 0
3.  Mr. Manzar Mushtag 4 4 4 0

2. Meeting of the Human Resource and Remuneration Committee.

During the vear, two (2) meeting of the Human Resource and Remuneration
Committee were held. The attendance of each participant is as follows:
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Number of meetings l

Number
Name of Persons ui: ﬁl‘temﬂ!ance Attended Leave
meetings regquired granted
1 Mr. Fahd Kamal
. Chinoy 2 2 2 -
2 Mr. Shoaitb Mumtaz 2 2 2 =
3. Mr. Ahmed Jahangir 2 2 1 1
4 Ms. Mavra Adil
= Khan 2 2 1 1

n. The trades in the Units of the Fund were carried out during the year by Directors,
Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer,
Company Secretary, and Chief Internal Auditor of the Management Company and
their spouses and minor children.

S Investment | Redemption !Jw!den_d
Nl; Name Designation Distribution
(Number of Units)
Muhammad Chief Financial
1. | Asif Mchdi & Operating 10,898 04 2.596.65 5375349
Hizvi Officer

EXTERNALAUDITORS

The Fund’s external auditor’s M/s. ALF Ferguson & Co. Chartered Accountants have
retired after completion of audit for Financial Year ended June 30, 2024. The Audit
Committee has recommended re-appointment of M/s. ALF Ferguson & Co. Chartered
Accountants as external auditors of the Fund for financial year ending June 30, 2025 and
the Board has also endorsed the recommendation of the Audit Committee. M/s. AF
Ferguson & Co. Chartered Accountants has also expressed their willingness to act as
the Fund’s external auditors.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The Board is thankful to the Fund’s wvalued investors, the Securities and Exchange
Commission of Pakistan and the Trustees of the Fund for their continued cooperation and
support. The Directors also appreciate the efforts put in by the management team.

On behalf of Directors,
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Khawaja Khalil Shah Manzar Mushtagq
Chief Executive Officer Director
September 25, 2024 September 25, 2024
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REPORT OF THE FUND MANAGER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Fund Type and Category

Pakistan Income Fund— (PIF) is an open-end mutual fund and comes under income scheme. The fund
primarily invests in money market and other short-term instruments which includes short term corporate debt
and government securities. The fund may also invest in medium term assets in order to provide higher returns
to unit holders.

Fund Benchmark

The benchmark for the fund 15 Six (6) months KIBOR rates.

Investment Objective

The objective of the Fund is to deliver retums primarily from debt and fixed income investments without
taking excessive isk

Manager's Review

During the period under review, the fund generated a return ot 21.50% as agamst its benchmark return of
24.53%. At period end, the fund was 5.2% invested in Cash, 35.0% in PIBs, and 19.3% in T-Bills. WAM of

the fund stood at 3.6 Years.

The Net Assets of the Fund as at June 30, 2024 stood at Rs. 1,899 million as compared to Rs. 1,724 million as
at June 30, 2023 registering an increase of 10.15%. The Net Asset Value (NAV) per unit as at June 30, 2024

was Rs. 54.9452 as compared to opening NAV of Rs. 54.6443 per unit as at June 30, 2023 registering an
increase of Rs. 0.3009 per unit.

Asset Allocation as on Junc 30, 2024 (% of total assets)

Asset Allocation (%eage of Total Assets) Jun-24
Cash 5.2%
TFCs/Sukuks 153.5%
T-Bills 19.3%
GOP Lara Sukuk 13.2%
PIBs 35.0%
Others including receivables 11.8%
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REPORT OF THE FUND MANAGER
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Asset Quality as of June 30, 2024 (% of total assets)

AL
1.7T%

N

Mot Rated
11.8%

Al
1.3% ;
Government Securifies
67.5%
LAAA
11.6%
Sved Mohammad Usama Ighal

Fund Manager
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TRUSTEE REPORT TO THE UNIT HOLDERS

CENTRAL DEPDSITONY COMPANY
OF FAKEISTAN LUATTED

Head Office:

ERC Hijiite, 90-8 Bock "8

SAC S Bin Shatra-= Sral
Karschi - TEKD. Pakiclin

Pl SEF-203 0071071500

Fax: fE2-21) 343 ¥
EIHL: whwtve e ek
Emad irfodhedomet coes

Y &)

TRUSTEE REFORT TO THE UNIT HOLDERS
PAKISTAN INCOME FUND

Report of the Trustee puriuant (o Hegulation 41(h) aod elause B of Schedule V of the Non-
Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulations, 2008

We Contml eposmery Company of Pakutan Limiled beng the Trustee of Pakissn Income
Fund ((be Fund) see of the opinlon that MCB [nvestoiest Messgemeni | bmited belng the
Mimnarement Compeny of the Fmd hes in all mascrind respects mannsed the Fund durine the
Viikf etk June Jul:'_ M4 m aovordnnes writh the proviaods of tha fille iy

(i 1im st hons '.l'.ljpl.m'd on (b ivesiment PUWERS of the ?.1.r.|n.|.;,—_'m_1|: L 'J'"'lT|1.;|l'.t tndar the
canstinutive documents of tee Frimd;

(1) The pricme.- temence =nd rodemprion of Wiits &be carted aul in socondnmee with the
reijuiremmemt of the constitutive docaments of e Fand:

(i} The mosagemel fes, fos poyable to Commission and other exponses paid froa 1he Fund
durliys the perind ire i aocomimes with the applicable rmgulatey frmework; and

(iv} The Non-Runking Fimanee Companies (Establishmienl snd Regulsbons ) Bules, 2003, the
Non-Hanking Finsco Comparles and Noliled Eailies Ropulations, 2008 pnd (he
constimive documents of L Frmd

Fior the stiention (o wmi holders, during am easite inspectlon of the Munssement Commpainy, the
Socurilies and Exchange Commimion of Pakistan (SECP) identilied cortain maties related 1o
the churging srd allocstion of w=dling and markesing sxpeeses 1o the Fimd Acconfmely, the
M) Cormpany, Rllowing the guidance ond interpretation provided by the SECP, will
compensate o the otitled onit bolders

Wil el
Badi¥adin Akber
Chinf Exeentive (fficor
Ce=tra] Beposiiory Cormpany of Paldeun Limlsed

Kamchi: September 30, 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE UNIT HOLDERS

i

pwec AFFERGUSON&CO.

INDEFENDENT AUDTOR'S REFORT
To the Unit holders of Pakistan Ineome Fund
Repart on the Audit of the Financial Statemenis
Dplnlon

We have sudiied the finencial stalements of Pakistsn Income Pund (the Fund), whish comprise (e
stitement of assrts and Hahifitien a2 ot June 309, 2024, and the income statement, statoment of
comprehensive income, statement of movement in anit holders’ fund and cesh fow statement for the year
then ended, und notes to the Ananeial sutemenis, ncloding materal secounting policy nformation

In our nEnni'm. the accompanying financin] statements give & true snd fair view of the Tnancial poxiton of
the Fund 6 at June 50, 2004, a6d of U Onasclil perlommance and its cush fows for the vear then epded
sccorduncs with the acecumting and reporting iandands as applicable in Pakistan.

Rasis for Opinion

We condocted our podit in accordanes with International Smndands on Awditing ([5A=) as applicable =
Palitatan. Our ersponsbllitiea usder (hoao standards o re further deseribed in the Awditors Responsibilitie
for the Audit of the Financiol Statements section of our eport. We are mdependent of the Fund in
accordance with the Internationn] Eihies Stendords Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professionod
Acpouritonty us sdopted by the Inutitute of Chartéred Avcountants of Pakistan (the Code) snd we have
fulfified our other ethical responsihilities tn accordance with the Code. Wi believe that the audit evidence
wit have obtained in mificient and appropriate to provide o basis for our opinion,

Key Audit Mattors
Eey sedit matters are those matberd that, in ook professbonal judgmint, wene of moit dgnificance in o
audit of the finencial statements of the current period, These matters wore addressed in the context of our

snditof the Ananelal statements as o whole, and in forming cur opinion therean, and we do not provide &
separate opinion on thesp mattems

Follewing is thee koy audit mather:

1 NetAsset Value (NAV)
(Refar nate 5 to the finsncial statemenia) |

Tiveatminstn comelltute the mont  aiguiffeant| Our sudit procedures st athee inchedod the follewing:
component of the pet ssset value lnvestments o Obtained independent confirmations for verlfying the
aftha Fund an st June 30, 0034 amedital 0 Be.  yjgionee of the (nvestinent portfolio ss st Junn 30, 3024
o323 million. and iraced it with the books and reegids off the Pund
|‘1‘he enletence  ahd proper  valustion  of Where sl confMrmathan were not evallable, ghermate
Tnvestmients for the determination of HAV ofthe  sudit procedures wern porformed;

Fund anatJune 3o, 22y ws oonsidered o high . Be-performed valusibon to assess thai inwesiments dre
risk arvn ani therefore we conaldered this 158 caprind an por the valuation Hxethadahogy specifid in the
Ky sudin manas eecolinting policies

Mer

A F. FERGUSON & C00., Chartered Acoowntint, o member firm af Hie Pl netsooek
Srate Life Buitding No. 5-C, 1 Chendrigar Sood, 200 Soxgn, Koroeod-7ano0, Pakistan
Vel s (21) NogDoasa-0/ a8 grd =t i-4; Far! i (1) 39007 5o aegerrgn] ciesu puecom, s

o BUREACHE « LAHDRE « FSLAMASAD
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE UNIT HOLDERS

pwe AF-FERGUSON&CO.

Other Mattcr

The financial statements of the Fund for the year ended June 30, 2023 were audited by another firm of

Chartered Accountants who had expressed an unmaodified opinkon theteon vide there report dited
Beprember 20, 2023,

Oiher lnformation

Muonagement bs responalble for the sther infarmation. The ether lnfomatbon compeises the information
imchaded in the Annual Report, but does oot inchide the financial statements and our auditors ropert
thettman.,

Ouir opinion on the financial stolements does not cover the other information and we do nit express any
form of nesurance conclusion thereon.

In eonnection with our audit of the fnancial stalements, our responaibility is to road the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the cther information is materially inconsistent with the fnancis
stntements or nar knowledge obitained in the andit or atherwise appears to be materally minstated, IT, baned
o tht work we have performed, we conclude that there b o material misstatement of this other information,
wor ate required to report that fact, Wi have nothing to repost in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Board of Directors of the Management Company for
the Finunclal Statements

Maonagement 18 responaible for the prepamtion and falr presentation of the finuncial statements in
accordanco with accounting and reporting standards as applicable in Pakistun, and for such imtermal sontrol
58 managempnt delermines i necessury (o enable the prepartion of finencind stntements that are free from
material misstitement, whether doe fo fraud or ermr

In preparing the Anancial statements, manugoment s responaible for assessing the Fund's ability 1o
continue s & golng concern, discloaing, as applicatile, matters related 1o going concern and wsing the godeg
enneern bazia of scconnting unless management either intonds to lguidate the Fund of o cease operations,
ar has no realistic slternative bt to do so,

Bourd of directors of the Management Company ks responsilike for oversesing the Fund's financial reporting
process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Crar ohjectives are to obitain reasonable asstrinee nbout whether the fingncial Matements as 2 whole are
froe from material misstatemest, whether dus to frod or ermor, ood to fssoe on soditoc's report that
intludes our opinion. Repsonable assuranee b o bigh level of susunance, bt bs aot & guasanies that an audii
condueted in sceordance with 1845 a8 applicable in Pakistan will always detect & materinl minstatement
when It exists, Missiatements can drise from frasd o ervor and are coraidered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the sconqamic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statemaeits

Mnfd of an audit in accoedance with [SAs an applicobile in Palistan, we mercise professional fodgment
and maintain professonal skepticism throughot tie audit. We alse;

*  |dentifv and sssess the risle of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to freud
o grror, design and perform audit procediires rosponsive to thoss risks, and obtain sudit evddencs that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide 4 basis for our opinion. The risk of oot detecting 3 material
misstatement resilting from frmud 18 higher than for ene resuliing from errer, s fraud may invalve
cnllusion, forgery, inteational pmissions, misrepresentaticns, or the override of lnternal control,

Myes
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE UNIT HOLDERS

i 3
pwe AFFERGUSON&CO.

= Obtain an understanding of internal conteol relevant to the audit in-order to design audit procedures
that are sppropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpese of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Fund's internal control.

*  Evaluate the approprinteness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

= Conclude on the appeopriateness of management's tee of the golng concern bosis of sceounting and,
based on the aodit evidense obtained, whether 8 matedia] uneertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt en the Fond's ability to continue as o going concern. If we
conclude that o material uncertainty existe, we are required to drow attention in our auditor’s eport to
the related diselosures in the financial stutements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion, Cur concliugions are hased on the andit evidencs obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report,
However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to gense to comtinge a8 a going concemn,

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structures and content of the financial statements, incloding the
disclosures, und whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
o manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with board of directors of the Management Company regarding, among other mallers,
the planned seope and tming of the andit and significant aundit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify doring our audit.,

We also provide board of directors of the Management Company with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding Independence, and 1o communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thonght to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, refated safeguards.

From the matters communicated with board of iirectors of the Mansgement Company, we delermine thosa
mutters that weee of most significsnees in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters, We deseribe these matters i our audbtor's report unless law or regilation
prechudes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that
a matter should not be communicated in our report becanse the adverse consequences of doing so would
reagonahly be expected to cotweigh the public interest benefits of such communication,

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Based on our andit, we further report that in our opinion the financial statements have been pmpﬁreld mall
material respects in sccordance with the relevant provisions of the Non-Banking Finanee Companies and
Maotified Entities Repnlatinns, con8.

The engapement partner an the audit resulting in this independant suditor's report is Junaid Mesia.

i 20
I
Al F PFgrposon & Co,
Chartered Accountants

Karachi
Diared: Oetober 4, 2024
UDIN: AR2024 1061 LvPZIE QAW
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STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

AS AT JUNE 30, 2024

ASSETS

Balances with banks

Investments

Mark-up receivables

Advances, deposils, prepayments and other receivables
Receivable against sale of investments

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Payable to MCB Investmenl Managemenl
Limited - Managemenl Company
Payable to Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited - Truslee
Payable to the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan
Payable against redemption of units
Fayable against purchase of investments
Accrued expenses and other liabiliies
Total liabilities

MNET ASSETS
Unitholders' fund (as per statement attached)

Contingencies and commitments

NUMEBER OF UNITS IN ISSUE

NET ASSET VALUE PER UNIT

The annexed notes from 1 to 28 form an integral parl of these financial statements.

For MCB Investment Management Limited

(Management Company)

T
A '

P,
P i A

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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54 0452

Mote June 30, June 30,
2024 2023
—— (Rupees in ‘000" —
4 136,409 314613
5 2,160,323 2,374,533
6 88,881 46,458
7 15,124 13,532
201,739 .
2602476 2,7149.136
8 3,584 9243
9 140 198
10 124 B52
47 47
647,61 -
11 51,490 15,151
103,146 25,291
1.899.330 2,723,845
1,899,330 2,723,845
12
(Number of units)
34,567,718 49,846,864
(Rupees)
54.6443

T ay

Director
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INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

INCOME

Income from government securities

Income frem term finance cerfificates

Mark-up on savings accounts with banks

Net realised loss on sale of investments

Net unrealised appreciation / {diminution) on re-measurement of investments
classified as "financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’

Other income

Total income

EXPENSES
Remuneration of MCB Investment Management Limited
- Management Company
Sindh Sales Tax on remuneration of the Management Company
Allocated expenses
Seliing and marketing expenses
Remuneration of Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited - Trustee
Sindh Sales Tax on remuneration of the Trustee
Fee to Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan
Brokerage, settlement and bank charges
Fees and subscription
Legal and professional charges
Auditors” remuneration
Printing and related cosis
Total expenses

MNet income for the year before taxation
Taxation
MNet income for the year afier taxation

Eamings per unit

Allocation of net income:
Net income for the year after taxation
Income already paid on units redeemed

Accounting income available for distribution
- Relating to capital gains
- Excluding capital gains

The annexed notes from 1 to 28 form an integral part of these financial statements.

Note

8.1
82
8.3
8.4
9.1
2 B
101

For MCB Investment Management Limited

(Management Company)

o’ A

[ )

&

P,
P i A

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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For the year ended

June 30, June 30,
2024 2023
—— (Rupees in ‘000%) —
316,787 369,774
105,312 112,449
66,371 74,599
(642) (6,550)
2,630 (23,235)
7,214 2,283
497 672 529,320
23,962 15,339
3,115 1,994
2,824 4,604
12,777 15,799
1.718 2445
223 318
1,718 B52
1,840 1,783
645 T88
191 174
1,085 828
32 41
50,430 44 TED
447 247 484 555
447 242 484 555
447 242 484 555
(165.722) (194,254)
281,520 250,301
281 520 200,301
281,520 280,301

T ay

Director
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STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

For the year ended
June 30, June 30,
2024 2023
——- ({Rupees in "000°) -——
Net income for the year after taxation 447 242 484 555
Other comprehensive income for the year
447 242 484 555

Total comprehensive income for the year

The annexed notes from 1 o 28 form an integral part of these financial statements.

For MCB Investment Management Limited
(Management Company)

o
- .--..___..-' . o ] A
P M Muﬁén%mﬁin‘v—

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer Director
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STATEMENT OF MOVEMENT IN UNIT HOLDERS' FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Year ended June 30, 2024 Year ended June 30, 2023
Capital Value u"_ﬁ'ﬂbﬂ Total Capital Valus {Iniﬂ_vq Total
{Rupees in "00T)
Met assets at the beginning of the year 2,533,728 130,117 2723845 3,087.087 1228928 3,210,025
Issuance of 44 405902 units (2023 166,978 077 unids)
- Capital value (at ex-net assel value per unid
at the beginning of the year) 2426 6579 - 2 426529 8.07T.6BD - 8,077 880
- Element of income 180,694 — 180,694 591,745 - 581,745
Total proceeds on issuance of units 2607223 - 2607223 0669625 - 9,660 625
Redemplion of 59,685,048 units (2023: 176,176 232 unis)
- Capital value {at ax-net asset value pear unid
al the beginning of the yaar) (3,261 448) - |(3z261448)| | (9,577.044) - (9,577.944)
- Blement of loss (110.832)] (165,723} ([IF7G6.654) (513.735)) (194.254) {707 28Dy
Total payments on redemption of units (3,372,360) (i65722) (4,538,102} (10,001,679) (104,254) (10,285933)
Tolal comprehensive income for the yaar - 44T 242 447242 - 484 555 484 555
Dustribution for the year ended Juna 30, 2024
@ Rs. 113876 per unit on Jumne 22, 2024 - {Z71,369) (271.369) - - -
Refund of capital for the year ended June 30, 2024 {B9.509) - (69, 509) - - -
Distribution for the year ended June 30, 2023
@ Rs. 84720 per unit on June 17, 2023 - - - = {283.112) {283,112)
Refund of capital for the year ended June 30, 2023 - - - 71.315 - 71,315
Tolal distributions during the year (62.508) ([271,368) [340,B75) (71,315} (283,112} (A54.42T)
Met assets at the end of the year 1,750 062 140,268 1,809 330 2,504,128 130,177 2,723,545
Undistributed income brought forward
- Realised gain 153,352 110,314
- Unrealized {loss) / gains {23,235} 12,614
130,117 122,928
Accounting income available for distribution
- Relating fo capilal gains - -
- Excluding capital gains 281,520 280,301
281,520 280,301
Distribution made during the year (271,369) (2B3,1132)
Undislribuled income camied forward 140,268 130,117
Undistributed income carried forward
- Realised gain 137,638 153,362
- Unreafised gain / {loss) 2630 {23.235)
140,268 130,117
b .
{Rupees) {Rupees)
Met asset value per unit at the beginning of the year 54 G443 54 9657
Net asset value per unit at the end of the year 540452 54 5443
The annexad notes from 1 to 28 form an integral part of these financial statements.
For MCB Investment Management Limited
(Management Company)
- ,f"---.:- A,
2 L ' M;qu:ﬁ
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer Director

90 PAKISTAN INCOME FUND




CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Met income for the year before taxation

Adjustments for :
Met unrealised (appreciation) / dimunition on re-measurement of investments
classified as ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’

(Increase) | decrease in assets

Investments - net

Mark-up receivables

Receable against sale of investments

Advances, deposils, prepayments and other receivables

Increase | (decrease) in liabilities

Payable to MCB Investment Managemenl Limited - Managemenl Company
Payable to Central Deposilory Company of Pakistan Limited - Truslee
Payable to the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan

Fayable against purchase of investments

Accrued expenses and other liabiliies

Net cash generated from / (used in) operating activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividend paid

Receipts against issuance and conversion of units - net of refund of capital
Faymenis against redemption and conversion of units

Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents during the year
Cash and cash equivatents at beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

The annexed notes from 1 to 28 form an integral par of these financial statements.

MNote

For MCB Investment Management Limited

(Management Company)

T
A '

P,
P i A

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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For the year ended
June 30, June 30,
2024 2023
--—— (Rupees in ‘000") —
447 242 484 555
{2,630) 23,235
444 612 507,750
(212,831) 1,189,923
(42,423) 35,152
(201,739) -
{1.592) (429)|
(458,585) 1,234,646
{5,659) 2,567
(58) (83)
(528) (TB3)|
647,761 (2,125,509)
36,339 {37,689)
677,855 (2.161.477)
663,882 (419,041)
(271,369) (283,112)
2,537,714 9,598,210
(3,538,102) (10,285,933
(1,271,757) (970,735)
(607 875) (1,389,778)
1,042 937 2,432,713
435,062 1,042 937

T ay

Director
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NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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LEGAL STATUS AND NATURE OF BUSINESS

Pakistan Income Fund (the Fund) was established through a Trust Deed executed betweesn MCB - Anf Habib Saving
and Investments Limited (now. MCE Investment Management Limited), as Management Company and Central
Depository Company of Pakistan Limited (CDC) as Trustee. The draft Trust Doed was approved by the Securities
and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) vide its letter dated January 25, 2011 consequent to which Trust
Deed was executed on March 07, 2011 in accordance with the Assot Management Companies Rules, 1995 (AMC
Rules) repealed by the Mon-Banking Finance Companies (Establishment and Regulations) Rutes, 2003 (NBFC
Rules). During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Trust Act, 1882 was repealed due to promulgation of Provisional
Trust Act namely "Sindh Trusts Act, 2021° (the Sindh Trust Act) as empowered under the Eighteenth Amendment to
the Constitution of Pakistan. The Fund was registered under the Sindh Trust Act on August 13, 2021,

In April 2023, MCB Bank Limited acquired the enfire shareholding of Arif Habib Corporation Limited (AHCL) in MCB
Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited after which the shareholding of MCB Bank Limited has increased from
51.33% to 81.42% in the Management Company and AHCL no longer holds any sharmes in the Management
Company. Consequently, members of the Management Company in an Extra Ordinary General Mooting (EOGM)
held on July 7, 2023 resolved via special resolufion that the nama of the Management Company be changed from
MCEB Anf Habib Savings and Investments Limited to MCB Investment Managoment Limited.

The Management Company of the Fund has bean licensed to act a5 an Asset Management Company undar tha Non
Banking Finance Companies (Establishment and Regulations) Rules 2003 through a cerlificate of registration issued
by the SECF. The registered office of the Management Company is situated at 2nd Floor, Adamjec House, LL
Chundrigar Road, Karachi, Pakistan.

The Fund is an open-end collective investment scheme categonsed as an "Income scheme®™ by the Board of
Directors of tho Management Company pursuant to Circular 7 of 2009 dated March 6, 2009 issued by the SECE. Tha
units of the Fund were initially offered for public subscription at a par value of Rs. 50 per unit. Thereafier, the units
are being offared for public subscription on a continuous basis. The units of the Fund are transferable and can also
ba redeemed by sumendering them to the Fund. The Fund is listed on the Pakistan Stock Exchange Limited.

The Fund pimarily invesis in money market and other shortderm placements { instruments which include shori-term
corporate debt, govemment secunfies, margin frading sysiem transactions and spread transactions. The Fund may
alzo invest a portion of its assets under management in medium term assets in order to provide higher return o the
unit holders.

The Pakistan Credit Rating Agency (PACRA) Limited has assigned Managoement quality rafing of "AM1® dated
Octobaer 06, 2023 (2023: "AM1" dated October 6, 2022) to the Management Company and "Ab-{T)" as stability rating
dated September 01, 2023 (2023: "AA-(T)" as stability rating dated March 2, 2023) fo the Fund. The rating reflects tha
Management Company's experienced management team, structured invesiment process and sound quality of
systems and processes.

The fitle to the assets of the Fund is hald in the name of Coentral Depository Company of Pakistan Limited as Trusteo
of the Fund.

BASIS OF PREPARATION
Statemant Of Compliance

These financial statements have bean prepared in accordance with the accounting and reporting standards as
applicabie in Pakistan for interim financial reporting. The accounting and reporting standards as applicable in

- International Financial Reporfing Standards ([FRSs) ssued by the Internabonal Accounting Standards Board
{lASB) as notified under the Companies Act, 2017 (the Act);

- Provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act 2017 along with part VIIA of the repealed
Companies Ordinance, 1984; and

- the Non-Banking Finance Companies (Establishment and Regulation) Rules, 2003 (the NBFC Rules), the Non-
Banking Finance Companies and MNotified Eniities Regulations, 2008 (the NBFC Regulations) and the
requirements of the Trust Deed.
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Where provisions of and directives issued under the Companies Act, 2017, part VIIIA of the repealed Companies
Ordinance 1984, the NBFC Rules, the NBFC Regulations and the reguirements of the Trust Deed differ from the
IFRSs, the provisions of and direclives issued under the Companies Acl, 2017, part VIlIA of the repealed Companies
Ordinance 1984, the NBFC Rules, the NBFC Regulations and the reguirements of the Trusl Deed have been
followed.

Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for investments classified
as ‘at fair value through profit or loss' which are measured at their respective fair values.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published sccounting and reporting standards that are
effective in the curmment year:

There are cerlain amendments o the published accounting and reporting standards thal are mandatory for the Fund's
annual accounting period beginning on July 1, 2023. However, these are not considered fo be relevant or did not
have any maieral effect on the Fund's financial sistements and hence, therefore; not been disclosed in these
financial statements except thal during the year certain amendments to IAS 1 'Presentation of Financial Statements’
have become applicable to the Fund which require entities to disclose their malerial accounting policy information
rather than their significant accounting policies. These amendments o IAS 1 have been inlroduced o hefp entities
improve accounting policy disclosures so that they provide more useful information o investors and other primary
users of the financial statements. These amendments have been incorporaled in these financial siaiements with the
primary impact that the material accounting policy information has been disclosed rather than the significant
accounting policies.

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published accounting and reporting standards that are not
yet effective

There are cerlain new slandards and amendments o the published accounting and reporiing standards thal will be
applicable to the Fund for ils annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2024. However, these are nol considered to
be relevanl or did not have any material effect on the Fund's financial sialements except for:

The new standard - IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements (IFRS 18) (published in April
2024) with applicability date of January 1, 2027 by IASB. IFRS 18 is yet lo be adopted in Pakistan. IFRS 18
when adopted and applicable shall impact the presentation of ‘Income Statement’ with cerlain additional
disclosures in the financial statements.

amendments to IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments’ which clarify the dale of recognition and derecognition of a
financial asset or financial liability including setilement of liabilities through banking instruments and channels
including electronic transfers. The amendment when applied may impacl the liming of recognition and
derecognition of financial liabiliies.
Critical accounting estimates and judgments
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with the accounting and reporting standards requires the
management o make eslimates, judgments and assumptions that affect the reporled amounts of assels and
[iabilities and income and expenses. || also reguires the management o exercise judgment in the application of the
Company's accounting policies. The estimates and associaled assumplions are based on hislorical experience and
vanous other factors, including expectation of fulure evenls, thal are believed o be reasonable under the
circumslances, the results of which form the basis of making judgments about camying value of assets and liabilities.
These estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions io accounting estimales are
recognisad in the year in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that year, or in the year of revision
and future years if the revision affects both the current and future years.
The estimates and judgements that have a significant effect on the financial stetements of the Fund relate to
classification, valuation and impaiment of financial assels (notes 3.2 and 5).
Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statemenis are measured using the curmrency ol the primary economic environment in

which the Fund operates. These financial stalemenis are presented in Pskistani Rupees which is the Fund's
functional and presentation currency.

93 PAKISTAN INCOME FUND




NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

321

323

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The mataral accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are scl oul bolow. Theso
policies have been consistenlly applied to afl the years presented.

Cash and cash equivalents

These comprise balances with banks in savings and cumant accounts and other short-term highly liguid investments
with original maturities of three months or less.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measuremant
Debt instrumants

IFRS 9 has provided a cntona for debt secunties whereby these debt securities are aither classified as:

- amortised cost;

- at fair value through other comprehensive income "[FVOCIHY", or

- at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) based on the business model of the entity.

However, IFRS 8 also provides an option whereby securities managed as a portfolio or group of assets and whoso
performance s measured on a fair value basis, 0 be recognised at FVWTPL. The Fund is primsanly focused on fair
value information and vses thatl information o assess the assels’ parformance and to make decisions. Therofore, the
managament considers iis investmant in dobl securities as being managed as a group of assels and hence has
classified them as FVTPL

Equity instrumenis

Equity imstruments are instruments that meet the definiion of eguity from the issuer's perspective and are
instrumenis that do not contain a contractual oblgation lo pay and that evidence a residual interest in the issuer's nat

All equity investments are required 1o be measured in the "Statement of Assets and Liabilities™ at fair value, with
gains and losses recognised in the "Income Statemont”, except where an imevocable alection has boen mado at the
time of inifial recognition to measure the invesiment al FVOCL The management considers its investmenl in equity
securnlies boing managed as- a group of assets and hence has classified them as FVTPL Accordingly, the
irrevocable option has not been considered.

The dividend income on equity securiies classified under FVTPL is recognised in the Income Statement.

Since all invesiments in equily instruments have been designated as FVPL, the subsequent movement in the fair
value of equity securities is routed through the Income Statement

Impairmant {other than debt securities)

The fund assesses on a forwand looking basis the expecied credit loss (ECL) associated with its financial assols
{other than debt instruments) carmed al amortised cost The fund recognises loss allowances for such losses at each
reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

- an unbiased and probability-weighted around that is determined by evaluaiing a range of possible outcomes,
= the tme value of money, and

- reazonable and supporable information that is available withoul undue cost or effort al the repeorting date about
past events, current conditions and forecast of fulure cconomic conditions.

The Fund considers that a financial asset is in default when the counterparly fails o make contraciual paymenis
within 90 days of when they fall due. Further, financial assets are written off by the Fund, in whole or part, when it has
exhausted ail practical recovary efforts and has concluded that there 13 no reasonable expeciation of recoverny.

Impairment loss on dabt sacuritias

Provision for non-parforming debl securities is made on the basis of time-based crileria as prescribed by the SECP
and based on management's assessment made in line with its provisioning policy approved by the Board of Directors
of the Management Company in accordance with the guidelines issued by the SECP. Impairment losses recogmsed
on doebt securities can b reversed through the Income Statement.
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3.24

325

326

As allowed by the SECP, the Management Company may make provision against debt securities over and above the
minimum provision requirement prescribed by the SECP, considening the specific credit and financial condition of the
debt security Issuer and in accordance with the provisioning policy duly approved by the Board of Direclors of the
Management Company. The provisioning policy approved by the Board of Direclors has been placed on the
Managemeant Company's website as reguired under the SECP's circular.

Regular way contracts

All regular way purchases snd sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date i.e. the date on which the
Fund commiis to purchase or sell the asset.

Initial recognition and measurerment

Financial assets are recognised at the time the Fund becomes a parly o the confractual provisions of the
instruments. These are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for financial assets camed “at
fair value through profit or loss'. Financial assets carmied “at fair value through profit or loss' are initially recognised at
fair value and transaction costs are recognised in the Income Statement.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the nights to recenve cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
have been transferred and the Fund has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Any gain or loss
on derecognition of financial assets is taken to the Income Statement

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised at the time when the Fund becomes a parly to the contracius! provisions of the
instruments. These are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently stated at amortised cost

A financial fiability iz derecognised when the obiigaton under the lability is discharged, cancelled or expired. Any gain
or loss anising on derecognition of financial liabifities is taken to the Income Statement.

Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial |abilittes are offset and the net amount is reporied in the "Siatement of Assels and
Labilities’ when there is & legally enforceable nght to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settie
on a net basis, or io realise the assets and setlie the liabiliies simultaneously.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Fund has a present legal or constructive obfigation as a result of past events, itis
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required o seffle the obligation and a
reliable estimate of the obligation can be made. Provisions are regularly reviewed and adjusted to reflect the current
best estimate.

MNet asset value per unit

The net asset vaive (NAV) per unit, as disclosed on the Statement of Assets and Liabilities is calcutated by dividing
the net asseis of the Fund by the number of units in circulation at the year end.

Issuance and redemption of units

Units issued are recorded at the offer price, determined by the Management Company for the applications receved
by the Management Company [ disinbutors during business hours on that day. The offer price represents the Net
Asset Value (MNAY) per unit as of the close of the business day, plus the allowable sales load and provision of any
duties, charges and fransacfion costs, if applicable. The sales load is payable to the Management Company [ disinbutors

Units redeemed are recorded at the redemption price applicable to units for which the Management Company /
distnbutors receive redemption applicabton during business hours of that day. The redemption price is equal fo MAV
as of the close of the business day, less an amount as the Management Company may consider to be an appropriaie
for provision of duties, charges and transactions costs, if applicable.
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310

Element of income / (loss) and capital gains [ (losses) included in prices of units issued less those in units
redeemed

Element of income represants the difference between net asset value per unit on the issuance or redemption date, as
the case may be, of units and the net assels value per unit at the beginning of the relevant accounting period.
Further, the element of income is a transaction of capital nature and the receipt and payment of element of income is
taken o unit holders' fund. However, o maintain the same ex-dividend net asset value of all units outstanding on the
accounting date, nel element of income contributed on issue of units lying in unil holders fund is refunded on unils in
the same proportion as dividend bears o aceounting income available for distribution.

Revenue recognition

- Gains / (losses) ansing on sale of investments are included in Income Statement and are recognised on the
date when the transaction takes place;
Uinrealised appreciation / (deminution} arising on re-measurement of investments classified as financial assets
'at fair value through profil or loss” are included in the Income Statement in the period in which they anse;

- Income on sukuk certificates and government securities is recognised on a ime proportionate basis using the
effeclive yield method, except for the securities which are classified as Non-Performing Asset under Circular
No. 33 of 2012 issued by the SECP for which the profits are recorded on cash basis;

Dividend income is recognised when the Fund's right io receive the same is established ie. on the
commencement of date of book closure of the investee company [ institution declaring the dividend; and
- Mark-up on savings account with banks is recognised on time proporiion basis using the effective yield method.
Expenses

All expenses including Management remuneration, Trustee remuneration, the Secunties and Exchange Commission
of Pakistan fee and allocated expenses are recognised in the Income Statement on an accrual basis.

Taxation
Current

Provision for current taxation is based on taxable income al the current rates of taxes after taking into account tax
credits and rebates, if any. The charge for current tax is calculated using the prevailing tax rates.

Deferred

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of all temporary differences ansing
from differences between the carmying amount of assels and habiliies in the financial stalements and the
coresponding tax base used in the computation of the taxable profit

The deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all laxable temporary differences and deferred tax assels are
recognised o the extent thal it is probable thal laxable profits will be available against which the deductible
lemporary differences, unused tax losses and lax credits can be utilized. Deferred tax is calculsted at the rates thal
are expected to apply o the period when the differences reverse based on enacted tax rales.

The income of the Fund is exempt from income tax under clause 99 of Part | of the Second Schedule to the Income
Tax Ordinance, 2001 subject to the condition that not less than 90% of its accounting income for the year, as reduced
by capital gains, whether realised or unrealised, is distnbuted amongst the unit holders in cash. Provided that, for the
purpose of determining distribution of at least 90% of the accounting income, the income distributed through bonus
units shall not be laken inlo accounl

The Fund is also exempt from the provisions of section 113 (minimum tax) under elause 11A of Part IV of the Second
Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001.
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3.13

-

th

Eamnings per unit

Eamings per unit is calculated by dividing the net profit / loss of the year after taxation of the Fund by the weighted
average number of units outstanding during the year.

Eamings per unit has not been disclosed as, in the opinion of the management, the determination of cumulative
weighted average number of outstanding units for calculating EPU is not practicable.

Distribution to units holders fund

Distributions to the unit holders are recognised upon declaration and approval by the Board of Directors of the
Management Company. Based on the Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan's (MUFAFP) guidelines duly consented by
the SECP, distnbution for the year also includes portion of income already paid on units redeemed during the year.

Distributions declared subsequent to the year end reporting date are considered as non-adjusting events and are
recognised in the financial stalements of the year in which such distributions are declared and approved by the Board
of Directors of the Management Company.

Foreign currency translation

Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are accounted for in Pakistani Rupees at the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates for monetary assels and liabilities denominated in
foreign cumencies are recognised in the Income Statement

June 30, June 30,
MNote 2024 2023
BALAMNCES WITH BANKS {Rupees in 0007
- In savings accounts 4.1 126 905 300,71
- In-current accounts 42 9,504 13,812
136409 314613

These camy mark-up at rales ranging between 19.00% 1o 20.50% per annum (2023: 12 25% to 19.50% per annum)
and include Rs. 1.62 millon (2023: Rs. 0.05 million) maintained with MCB Bank Limited (a related party) which
cames mark-up at the rate of 19.50% (2023: 19.50%) per annum.

These include balances held with MCE Bank Limited (a related party) of Rs. 9.49 million (2023: Rs. 13.90) million.

June 30, June 30,
INVESTMENTS Mote 2024 2023
(Rupees in ‘0007
Investments at fair value through profit or loss®
Government securities 51 1,756,123 1,887,200
Term finance cerlificates - listed 52 - -
Term finance cerlificates - unlisted 53 404,200 481813
Corporale Sukuk cerdificates 54 - 5,520
2160323 2374533
Government securities
Markel Treasury Bills 511 501,294 1,648,960
Pakistan Investment Bonds 512 330 647 -
Pakistan Investment Bonds - Floating Rate Bond (FRB) 513 579,480 338240
GoP ljarah Sukuks 514 344 702

1,756.123 1,887 200
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51.1 Market Treasury Bills

Face value Baiance as at Juna 30, 2024 Marksd valoe as a
Tenor Issoe date A Judy 01, :::::: Mahered | Sold nmn‘c s valus Marke! | Unreafised R :H
FoorE] during the year | 2024 i value | diminution
year of the Fund | investmants
{Rupses in 000 x
- 3 mondhis May 18, 2023 300,000 400,000 700,000 = = = = - =
- 3 mondhs June 1, 223 450,000 TO0,000 1,150,000 - = x =
- 3 mondhs June 15, 2023 - 2,700,000 2,700,000 - - - - - -
- 3 monhes June 22 2073 - 1 5000, D 1,500 000 - - - -
- 3 mondhs July 13, F023 - 1,000,000 1,000,000 - - - - - -
- 3 monhes August 10, 2023 - 2,385 D 2,385 000 - - - -
- 3 mondhs August 24, 7023 - 575,000 575,000 - = = = £ =
- 3 monhes Seplember T, 2023 - 25,000 T25 000 - - - -
- 3 mondhs Saplombaor 21, 223 - 375000 3,725,000 E ~ 3 3 = ~
- 3 mondhs Dotober 5, 2023 - 1, 00, CaleE 1,700,000 - - - -
- 3 monffs Ociober 19, 2023 - B00.000 800,000 - - - - - -
- 3 mandhs Nowember 2, 2023 - S006,000 900,000 - - - -
- 3 monffs Movemier 16, 2023 - 1,925,000 1,925,000 b ~+ = = & =
- 3 mandhs Howember 30, 2023 - 1,510,000 1,610,000 - - - -
- 3 monffs December 14, 2003 - 500,000 500,000 - - - - - -
- 3 mandhs Decernbar 28, 2023 - 500,000 500,000 - - - -
- 3 monffs Jamuary 11, 2024 - 125,006 125,000 b ~+ = = & =
- 3 mondhs Jamuary 25, 224 - 375,000 I75,000 - - - -
- 3 mondhs February 7, 2024 - 500,000 500,000 5 * = = - *
- 3 mandhs Febinaary 22 2004 - 1,275,000 1,275,000 - - - -
- 3 mondhs March 7, 2024 - 375,000 375,000 5 * = = - *
- 3 mandhs March 1, 2024 - 1,000,000 1,000,000 = = = =
- 3 mondhs Ao 4, 2024 - §75.000 F75,000 5] * = = - *
- 3 mondhs® Agril 18, 2024 - T50,000 A50,000 300,000 2008 BB 298 653 [15) 1572% 13.62%
- 3 mondhs May 2, 2024 - 500,000 500,000 > . = = - *
- 3 mondhis May 16, 2024 - 340,000 240,000 = = = = - =
- 3 mondhs Mary 30, 2024 - 500,000 500,000 - = - =
- 3 mondhs June 13, 2024 - 500,000 500.000 = = = = - =
- & mondhis June 15, 2023 - T 050,000 7,050,000 = = = = - =
- & mondhs October 18, 2023 - 500,000 500,000 - = - =
- & mondhs MNovermber 2, 2023 - 500,000 500,000 = = = = - =
- B months MWovernber 16, 2023 - 300,000 3,600,000 = = = =
- & mondhs Movernber 30, 2023 - 500,000 500,000 - - - - - -
- & momndhs Decermibser 14, 2023 - 500,000 500,000 - - - -
- & mondks Decernber 28, 2003 - 2 300,000 2,300,000 - - - - - -
- & momndhs Jamumary 11, 2024 - 125,000 125 000 - - - -
- & mondks May 2, 2024 - 500,000 500,000 - - - - - -
- & monihs Ry 20, 2004 - 500,000 500,000 = - = =
- & mondks June 13; 2024 - 500,000 500,000 - - - - - -
- 12 months. March 77, A73 - 325,000 325,000 % -+ = = = =+
- 12 monits June 15, 2023 1.000,000 - 1,000,000 - - - -
- 12 months. Juty 13, 2023 - 1,200,000 1,200,000 b ~+ = = & =
- 12 monits Dcober 18, 2023 - 500,000 500,000 - - - -
- 12 months. MNowarmber 2, 2023 - 12 375,000 12,375,000 b ~+ = = & =
- 12 monits Howember 16, 2023 - 2 500,000 2,500,000 - - - -
- 12 months. Movemter 30, 2023 - 500,000 500,000 - - - - - -
- 12 monits Diecernbar 14, 2023 - 500,000 500,000 - - - -
- 12 months. December 28, 2003 - 500,000 500,000 - - - - - -
- 12 monfhs"" Jamuary 11, 2024 - 3,200,000 3,150,000 50,000 45,200 45,268 32} 2.38% 210%
- 12 monkhs "™ January 25, 2174 - 3775000 3600000 775,000 157253 157375 122 8.29% TIE%
- 12 monfhs May 2, 2024 - 500,000 500,000 - = 5 5 = >
- 12 months May 16, 2024 - 500,000 500,000 5 * = = - *
- 12 monfhs ey 30, 20004 - 1,500,000 1,500,000 = = = =
- 12 months June 13, 2024 - 500,000 500,000 > * = = - *
As at Jume 30, 2024 501,220 =284 75
As at Jume 30, 2023 1557, 197 158960 {8.218)

* Thesis will maturs fatest by Juy 11, 2024 camying effecive yiekd rai 20.58%.

**Thesse will malure lalest by January 9, 2025 camyng effective yisld rate 12.87%

= These will mature by January 23, 2095 carrying affecive yield rate 19.84%.
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5.1.2 Pakistan Investment Bonds
Faziahm Baiance & o o 3. B Mt vain 253
Tomat e—. Matusty e h"m"" AL ey, __""': s 5 Mt jma30) g | Mt | Umnsiad H‘ﬂ-ﬂ:ﬂ
an L] ko] i wlm | appecision
| | S e Fand vt
[Pl i 2001 L
Fakistm tvastmmmt Bonds
- dyuars iy 4,202 Juiy 4 206 b1, - 30 mwmm - - - - . -
Ty Fabviary 15,2004 Februsry 15, 2027 T - 11H000 2RO 3WO0 MOSE  SwEe ECI 1T, 1L ]
-Gy by 1T, D4 Sy 17, 08 WO - I FEALL - - - - - -
s ot Juna 30 1516 BiT i
b al Jani 30, N3 - = =
* Vi el s ! by Feb 15, 207 carmying lfociive waid rake 16.60%
51.3 Pakistan Investment Bonds - Floating Rate Bond (FRB)
Faevahe Beiicesd hoe W, B0 [T ——
Tamer —— sty tas Copomie | ALy, '."': Melred 150 A Jone 28] Carying | Marhet L""'J ety
wm dwing RPN vl ok mnh Beimest| toal
s it | of e Fund| imvestians
R— S ——
Pakstan imvestment Bands
Py Al 6 AmlE 205 DTSN I0I200% ITEMD ATRNO - = < .
-2yaars Docorsber 30, 204 Docomber 30, 273 bl ) 250,00 =m - - -
Ay Sepleder 71, M7 Seplaniber 21, 28 bk ) 400 o - - 2 -
Gy My B, 2071 Mg 5, 2026 % 0000 - 111 1 R g . g
-hymars Decunber 14, 207 Ducomber 14, 228 - 1980% lo21.33% 75,000 =000 - - - -
Hyrs fuged 10 723 Augest 10, A8 TA00N LEimn  1Eome - B g
s Sl 11 2070 Seperntay 21, 208 TP 15000 1gmge - - 3 -
-Gy Ociber 13, 2073 Ouclnir 18, 7028 2% 3,700,000 3,700,000 - - - - * -
Sy Apri 18, 2004 Al 18, 20 2130% TONNCO0  GANDN EOG0 STEN  ST9ARD 1T WA R
Hyrs A6, 20 AR AR 0N nOEY gm0 EOpO - B = : : :
#s at Jone 30 N4 STTEIT 53480 umn
Fes at Jure 30, 20 _ BT ;EMD (M)

* T el e e by Al 18, 2008 carmping affocive iokd rade 72 57%,
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5.14 GoP ljarah Sukuks

e o enfezes sosimm | R
pescentigs af
Mame of the secur b e ™ Proitn
- ok hﬂ*hﬂ Mot /5ol | Asat dme Camying | Markef | Ureaied | Wefaseets | foka v
i, 2 : dwagheyr | 9000 | whe | e qn:i'ulurh ners
—Fapezs in W0 L]
Governmet of Palstan- fjarsh Sulok
A Ve VIR Sepibmbe 20, 207 Seplemiber 20, 204 ';Ef_: 12500 00 500 1M ) BE% ST
-1 Yea™ VAR Decemberd ) Depsmberd, 203 ';ﬁﬁ: 50 EON KN0 NS B 1T% U
-1 Ve Faat Warh 15 K4 Mah 15, 205 . - Em 40 DD 194E 04 0 1m% 0%
-3 Year VR Dombrd @ DmemberdE T PSACEE o som
! i monhs T-Bils
1 Yex Fired Decomberd T2 Dwemberd, 0% 16.19% k?117% e 15000
-3Ye R a4 Y Jaumy 4, X0 vﬁ:ﬁzz - s TS0 N0 WER B 1W% 1
-1 Yer™Famd oy 24wy X0 syl S0 S 1L | £ T U5 | 1% 1
Weaghied aeme
-5 Year VR Demberd A8 Doomberd B o M0 2000
5 e =*Fized A oy AR eyl 0 - RS0 RS0 6419 6247 () 313% 28
- Wieghed aerae
5 Yaa= VRR Imayd 2 AR 2T W50 £ T T 5oo1my 1
Total 2 2t June 30, 204 W WM W
Total 25 2t June 30, A2 : . -
*These el be malured lkest by Septemmber 20, 204 camying efecive rle 27 TH%
"These wil be maured faest by December 4, 204 camyng effectve mie 1956%.
*=These wil be et s by March 15 2075 camying efecive e 1%
o4 ez il e mokored st by Jawany 24, 2027 camyng effective sl 21,1 1%
e These wil be mokured et by Japumry 24, 2027 camying efecive sate 16.07%
sssan T wilbe st st by By 24, 2009 camnying efeches i 15.40%
swan T hese wil be: e s by kanuawy 24, 2079 comying efeche rae 21 4%
Term finance cortificates - listed
Certificates have a face value of Rs. 5,000 each unless stated otherwise
Murmbar of Corfificatns Balance 25 al Jume 30, 2 Market vale = 2
ol
Mame of the security "*1'mTﬁjn. Atduse | Carrying | Markat | Unrealised e
0 yoar yoar WM | value value | appreciabion | assats of vmrimant
——{Rupees m 000} — %
Imvestmeant Banks | investment.
Companies | Secur ities Companies
Trust Irvestment Bank Limited 10,000 - - 10000 743 - . -
Less: Provesion for imparment (e nole 5.6.1) 2 £ 3 - (eam - - e =
Miscallansoue )
Paca Paustan Limiled 10,000 . S 10000 49940 - . -
Less. Provsion for impainment {see nole 5.5.1) : i 2 . (dopany - L =
Technology & Communication -
Tebecard Limited 19975 . - 18ars 17098 - - . .
Less. Provsion for impainment {see nole 5.5.1) : : 2 i z . A

Total as at June 30, 2024
Total as at June 30, 2023

100

{17.098)

PAKISTAN INCOME FUND




NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Termmn finance certificates - unlisted
Certificales have a face value of Rs. 5,000 each unless stated otherwise

HMumbier of Cerfificates Balance & o Jane 30, MM Marked value % 2
i percentage of
Proft Asal | Purchesed| Malured | Unrealised
Name of the securily b Asal Kzt

year | fheyesr wl&fwm‘

% | iyt mmwmnnﬂmmwm spprecion | |

—— [Rupees n W0 |— —
Investiment Banks | Investiment
Companies | Securities Companies 49%% 2200 - 720 - - - - - -
Jehangir Siddiqu & Company Limied"
Commercial Banks
Ackan Bank Limied" bl i 1] % 7 Eli] ity 2850 157
Biank AL Habib Limifed"* T2 48% 53,000 = 12000 41,000 X357 i g W [E14) 003% .09
The Bank of Pungh **** 2294% 1,730 = : 1,730 nas 12627 m 0% .08
Tiokal as at June 30, 2004 ﬂ,ﬂ ﬂ@_! 6
Tokal s at June 30, 2023 457 481,813 10,
* Nominal value of hese lemm finance corificaes i Rs. 100,000 per cerlificate.
“These will be malured |atest by March 17, 2030,
“These wil be matured |3es! by Seplember 30, 2001
" Theese will e malured |atest by Aprl 23, 2008
Corporate Sukuk certificates
Balancy 50 il Jume I EM it v an
& pevertage o
A iyl | Perchased | MaredSold | Aot e M,
M o e sarwity PraftRas | Bowiy Os AN |seingthe plsmigle el BN | o e | ke e m et ey WP
e frad Lol =1
— - Mumiber of coriificaie) [Rupees. s 0007 ™
Chemizal
Ghani Croemcal Incosirios, L meded ™ redy s 8 Fabnary T, 004 2y =20
ey e Gases Limitod]  Sokol
Toinl as a1 June 30, 2024 - - -
Total 25 ai June 30, 2023 5,520 5520 -
* Nominal vale ol thrse milmk erificses iz Bx oot per certifiostn
Mote June 30, June 30,
2024 2023
Net unrealised appreciation / (diminution) on re-measurement {Rupees in "000)

of investmenis classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss'

Market value of investments 511,512,513, 514,52 53454 2,160,323 2,374,533
Carrying value of investments 511,512,513,514,52 53854 2,157,693 2 397,768
2,630 (23,235)

101 PAKISTAN INCOME FUND




NOTES TO AND FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

5.6.1

[=2]

Significant terms and conditions of lerm finance certificales and other securities outstanding at the year end are as
followes:

Ricbaca | et | Faonmmal | o i Socured /

Mame of
smenelly certificates P‘; m annum Mabirky unsecured Rafleg
Rupees Rupess
Unlisted dabt securities
Bank Al Habib Limiled - TFC 41,000 5000 4995 EBM Kibor + 0.75% Soplember 30, 2031 Unsecured AAA
The Bank of Punjab 1.730 100000 899 760 6M Kibor + 1.25%. Agpril 23, 2028 Unsecured AA
Askard Bank Limiled 30 1,000,000 1,000,000 3M Kibor + 1.2% March 17, 2030 Unsocured  AA

DETAILS OF NON-COMPLIANT INVESTMENT WITH THE INVESTMENT CRITERIA AS SPECIFIED BY THE
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION OF PAKISTAM

In accordance with clause (v} of the investment criteria laid down for ‘income scheme' in Circular Mo_ 7 of 2009, the
Furd is required io invest in any security having rating nol lower than the invesiment grade (credit rating of BEB and
above). However, as al June 30, 2024, the Fund is non-compliant with the above mentioned requirement in respect
of the following investments. The securities were in compliance with the circular (i.e. investment grade) at the time of
purchase and were subsequently downgraded to non investment grade by MUFAP on default by the respective
izsuer at the time of repayment of coupon due on the respective dates.

Value of Vaiue of
H £-Z H Percentage | Percentage
Name of non-compliant investment Type of investment w h:i,“:::r "“::’:’“ of net assets|  of total
5 ™ | ottheFund | investments
provision provsion
-—— [Rupees in "000°) ——
Trust Investment Bank Limited TFC 18743  (18743)
Pace Pakistan Limited TFC 49940  (49.940)
“Telecard Limited TFC 17098 (17,088)

Owing to continuous defsull on repayment of coupon by the issuer, the Fund had classified the said investment as
non-performing. The Fund has recognised full provision against outstanding principal in accordance with applicable
provisioning circular issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakislan and provisioning policy of the
Fund duly approved by the Board of Directors of the Management Company. The Fund has suspended further
accrual of mark-up there against

* The issuer with the consent of TFC holders have restructured the issue. The restructuring term spreads over a
peniod of 8 years with the first payment of principal started from March 2022 and thereafter in equal guarterly
instaiments with maturity in December 2028. During the period, an amount equal to Rs. 622 million {(2023: Rs. 3.11
million) payment has been received.

June 30, June 30,
2024 2023
MARK-UP RECEIVABLES ——{Rupees in "000")—
Mark-up receivable on:

- Term finance cerlificates 19,445 24775
- Pakistan Investment Bonds 18,577 11,697

- Pakistan Investment Bonds - Floaling Rate Band (FRE) 25727 -

- GoP ljarah Sukuks 20,613 -
- Savings accounls 4519 9.986
88881 46 458
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Note June 30, June 30,
2024 2023
ADVANCES, DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES ——{Rupees in "000")—
Advance tax | 5,769 4783
Deposits with:
- National Clearing Company of Pakistan Limited (NCCPL) 2.500 2 500
- Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited {CDC) 200 200
Prepayments 206 210
Receivable against margin trading system 2,600 -
Receivable from the National Clearing Company of Pakistan Limited (NCCPL) 3.010 5610
Oither receivables 749 169
15124 13,532

As per clause 47(B) of part IV of the Second Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001, payments made o
collective investment schemes (CI1Ss) are exempt from withholding tax under section 151 and 150. However, during
prior years, withholding tax on inferest on debt securities and mark-up on savings accounts with banks paid to the
Fund was deducted by various withholding agents based on the interpretation issued by FBR vide letter C. no. 1(43)
DG (WHT)2008-VOL.II-66417-R dated 12 May 2015 which requires every withholding agent to withhold income tax
at applicable rates in case a valid exemption certificate under section 159(1) issued by the concemed Commissioner
of Inland Revenue (CIR) is not produced before him by the withholdes. The tax withheld on interest on debt securibies
and mark-up on savings accounts with banks amounts to Rs. 5.77 million (2023: Rs. 4.78 million). Pending resolution
of the matter, the amount of withholding tax deducted on interest on debl securities and mark-up on savings accounts
with bank has been shown as advance tax as al June 30, 2024 as, in the opinion of the management. the amount of
tax deducted at source will be refunded.

For this purpose, the Mutual Funds Association of Pakistan (MUFAP) on behalf of varous mutual funds (including the
Funds being managed by the Managemenl Company) had filed a pelition in the Honourable Sindh High Court {SHC)
challenging the above mentioned interpretation of the Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) which was decided by the
SHC in favour of FBR. A petition was filed in the Supreme Court of Pakistan by the Funds ingether with other ClSs
(managed by the Management Company and other Assel Management Companies) whereby the Supreme Court
granted the petiioners leave to appeal from the initial judgment of the SHC.

Mote June 30, June 30,
PAYABLE TO MCRE INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT 2024 2023
LIMITED - MANAGEMENT COMPANY ——{Rupees in "000°)—
Managemenl remuneration payable 81 1,509 1,206
Sindh Sales Tax payable on remuneration of the
Management Company 82 208 157
Allocated expenses payable 83 133 350
Setling and marketing expenses payable 4 1.622 4812
Sales load payable 22 2.718
3,584 5243

As per regulation 61 of the NBFC Regulations, 2008, the Management Company is entitled to a remuneration equal
to an amount not exceeding the maximum rate of the management fee as disclosed in the Offering Document subject
to the tolal expense ratio limil. Kesping in view the maximum allowable threshold, the Management Company has
charged its remuneration at the rales ranging from 0.50% to 10.00% (2023: 0.50% to 10.00%) of the gross eamnings
of the scheme calculated on a daily basis during the year ended June 30, 2024 The remuneration is payable fo the
Management Company monthly in arrears.
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During the year, an amount of Bs. 3.12 million (2023: Bs. 1.99 million) was charged on account of sales tax on
management fee levied through the Sindh Sales Tax on Services Act, 2011 at the rate of 13% (2023: 13%) and an
amount of Rs. 3.06 million (2023: As. 2.54 million) has been paid on account of sales tax on management fee to the
Management Company which acts as a collecting agent.

In accordance with Regulation 60 of the NBFC Regulations, the Management Company is enfitied to charge fees and
expenses for registrar services, accounting, operation and valuation services, related to a Collective Investment
Scheme (CIS).

The Management Company, based on its own discretion, has charged such expenses at the rate of 0.08% to 0.15%
(2023: 0.01% to 5.16%) per annum of the average annual net assets of the Fund for the perod from July 1, 2023 to
June 30 2024, subject to total expense charged being lower than actual expense incurred.

The SECP has allowed the Asset Management Companies to charge selling and marketing expenses to all
categories of open-end mutual funds (except fund of funds) upto a maximum limit approved by the Board of Directors
of the Management Company as part of annual plan.

Accordingly, the Management Company has charged seliing and marketing expenses based on its discretion ranging
from 0.05% to 24.19% (2023: 0.01% to 5.43%) (duly authorised by the Board of Directors) while keeping in view the
annual plan, overall return and the total expense ratio limit of the Fund as defined under the NBFC Regulations.

During the year, the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP) camied out onsite inspection of the
Management Company and inspected, among other matters, the mechanism of chargeability of selling & marketing
expenses and accounting & operational charges to the funds under its management. As a result of this inspection,
SECP raised cerain observations relating to the chargeability of such expenses by the Management Company to the
funds under its management The Management Company has responded to the observations highlighted by the
SECP and there has been no further comespondence on this matter with the SECP. Accordingly, the impact of the
SECP's observations on unit holder's fund, if any, & not determinable as at the reporting date.

MNote June 30, June 30,
PAYABLE TO CENTRAL DEPOSITORY COMPANY 2024 2023
OF PAKISTAN LIMITED - TRUSTEE —{Rupees in ‘000 }——
Trustes remuneration payable 9.1 124 175
Sindh Sales Tax payable on trustee remuneration 92 16 23
140 198

The Trustee is enfitied to a monthly remuneration for services rendered to the Fund under the provisions of the Trust
Deed at the rate of 0.075% (2023: 0.075%) per annum of the average annual net assets of the Fund.

During the year, an amount of Rs. 0.22 million (2023: Rs. 0.32 million) was charged on account of sales tax on
remuneration of the: Trustee levied through the Sindh Sales Tax on Services Act, 2011 at the rate of 13% (2023: 13%)
and an amount of Rs. 0.23 million (2023; Rs. 0.33 million) was paid to the Trustee which acts as a collecting agent.

Note June 30, June 30,
PAYABLE TO THE SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 2024 2023
COMMISSION OF PAKISTAN ——{Rupees in “000")—
Fee payabie 101 124 652

In accordance with the NBFC Regulatons, a Collective Investment Scheme (CIS) is required to pay non-refundable
fee to the Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP).In accordance with the NBFC Regulafions, a
Collective Investment Scheme (CIS) is required to pay non-refundable fee to the Securfies and Exchange
Commission of Pakistan (SECP) at the rate of fee to 0.075% per annum of the daily net assets of the Fund,

Further, the Fund is required to pay SECP fee within fifteen days of the close of every calendar month. Previously,
the Fund was required to pay SECP fee within three months of the dose of accounting year.
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Mote June 30, June 30,
2024 2023

e RUpees in "000"je——

ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER LIABILITIES

Provision for federal excise duty payable an

- Remuneration of the Management Company 111 9210 9210
- Sales load : 239 239
Brokerage payable 34 148
Withholding tax payable 4,983 4468
Auditors’ remunerabion payable 823 53
Other payable 36,192 477
51,490 15,151

The Finance Acl, 2013 enlarged the scope of Federal Excise Duty (FED) on financial services lo include Asset
Managemenl Companies (AMCs) as a resull of which FED al the rate of 16 percent on the remuneration of the
Management Company and sales load was applicable with effect from June 13, 2013. The Management Company
was of the view that since the remuneration and sales load were already subject to provincial sales tax, further levy of
FED would result in double taxation which did not appear o be the spirt of the law. Hence, on September 4, 2013 a
constitutional petiion was filed with the Sindh High Court (SHC) by the Management Company together with various
other asset management companies challenging the levy of FED.

With effect from July 1, 2016, FED on services provided or rendered by non-banking financial institutions dealing in
services which are subject to provincial sales tax has been withdrawn by the Finance Act, 2016.

Dwuring the year ended June 30, 2017, the SHC passed an order whereby all notices, proceedings laken or pending,
orders made, duty recovered or actions laken under the Federal Excise Act, 2005 in respect of the rendering or
providing of services (o the extent as challenged in any relevant petiion) were sel aside._ In response o this, the
Deputy Commissioner Inland Revenue has filed a Civil Petition for leave to appeal in the Supreme Courl of Pakistan
which & pending adjudicabion.

In view of the above, the Fund has discontinued making further provision in respect of FED on remuneration of the
Management Company, sales load and related taxes with effect from July 1, 2016. However, as a matter of abundant
caution the provision for FED made for the period from June 13, 2013 &l June 30, 2016 amounting o Rs. 9.45 million
(2023: Rs. 9.45 million) is being retained in these financial siatements of the Fund as the matler is pending before
the Supreme Court of Pakistan. Had the provision for FED not been made, the Net Assel Value of the Fund as at
June 30, 2024 would have been higher by Re. 0.27 per unit (2023: Re. 0.19 per unit).

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

There were no contingencies and commitments ocutstanding as at June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023.

June 30, June 30,
2024 2023
AUDITORS' REMUNERATION ——{Rupees in "000'}—
Annuzal audit fee 525 370
Fee for half yearly review of condensed intenm financial statements 275 185
Fee for other cerifications 164 142
Out of pocket expenses 91 i)
1,005 Tar
Sindh Sales Tax B0 61
1,085 828
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TAXATION
The income of the Fund is exempt from income tax under clause (99) of part | of the Second Schedule to the Income
Tax Ordinance, 2001 subject to the condition that not less than 90% of the accounting income for the year as reduced
by capital gains, whether realised or unrealised, is distributed amongst the unil holders as cash dividend.
Furthermore, as per Regulation 63 of the Non-Banking Finance Companies and Notified Entities Regulabons, 2008,
the Fund is required to distibute not less than 90% of its accounting income for the year derived from sources other
than capital gains as reduced by such expenses as are chargeable thereon to the unit holders. Since the
management has distributed the required minimum percentage of ncome eamed by the Fund for the year ended
June 30, 2024 o the unit holders in the manner as explained above, no provision for taxabon has been made in these
financial statements during the year.
The Fund is also exempt from the provisions of Section 113 (minimum tax) under Clause 11(A) of Part IV of the
Second Schedule to the Income Tax Ordinance, 2001.
Mote June 30, June 30,
2024 2023
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ——{Rupees in ‘000" )}——
Balances with banks 4 136,409 314,613
Markel Treasury Bills 5141 298,653 728,324
435 062 1,042 937
TOTAL EXPENSE RATIO

The Total Expense Ratio (TER) of the Fund for the year is 2 20% (2023: 1.37%) which includes 0.22% (2023: 0.09%)
representing government levies on the Fund such as sales tax, Annual fee to the SECP eic. The prescribed limit for
the ratio is 2.5% under the NBFC Regulations for a collective invesiment scheme categorised as a "Aggressive fixed
income scheme”. However, collective investment scheme categorised as a “Aggressive fixed income scheme® which
invest in Margin Trading System (MTS) and / or ready future spread transaction, may charge additional MTS and / or
ready future spread transaction related expenses upto 0.5% of Mel assels to the Scheme. Accordingly, the enhanced
prescribed limit for the ratio after incorporating the aforementioned additional expenses is 3.000 (2023: 3.00%).

TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES OUTSTANDING WITH CONNECTED PERSONS | OTHER RELATED PARTIES

Related parties [ connected persons of the Fund include the Management Company, other collective investment
schemes managed by the Management Company, MCB Bank Limited being the Holding Company of the
Management Company, MCE Islamic Bank Limited (being 100% subsidary of the Holding Company), the Trustee,
directors, key management personnel and other associated underiakings and connected persons. Connected
persons also include any person beneficially owing directly or indirectly 10% or more of the units in the issue [ net
assefs of the Fund.

Transactions with connecled persons essentially comprise sale and redemption of units, fee on account of managing
the affairs of the Fund, other charges, sale and purchase of investments and distribution payments 1o connected
persons. The transactions with connecled persons are in the normal course of business, at contracted rates and at
terms delermined in accordance with market rales.

Remuneration to the Management Company of the Fund is determined in accordance with the provisions of the
NBFC Regulations and the Trust Deed.

Allocated expenses and selling and marketing expenses are charged o the Fund by the Management Company
subject to the maximum prescribed Total Expense Ratio.

Remuneration to the Trustee of the Fund s determined in accordance with the provisions of the Trust Deed.

The details of transactions camied out by the Fund with connected persons during the year and balances with them as
at year end are as follows:
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17.1

7.2

Details of transactions with connected persons are as follows:

MCE - Invesiment Management Limited - Management Company
Remuneration payable including indirect taxes
Allocated expenses payable

Setling and marketing expenses payable

Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited - Trustee
Remuneration payable including indirect taxes
CDC settlement charges

MCB Bank Limited - Parent of the Management Company
Mark-up on savings account with bank

Bank charges

Purchase of secunties : Face value 500 m - (2023: Nil )

Amounts cutstanding at year end

MCB - Investment Management Limited - Management Company
Managemenl remuneration payable

Sindh Sales Tax payable on remuneration of the Management Company
Allocated expenses payable

Setling and marketing expenses payable
Sales lpad payable

Central Depository Company of Pakistan Limited - Trustee
Trustee remuneration payable
Sindh Sales Tax payable on trustee remuneration

Secunty deposit

MCB Bank Limited
Balances with bank

For the year ended
June 30, June 30,
2024 2023
——{Rupees in “000°)—
2F 077 17,333
2824 4604
12,777 15,799
1,941 2763
18 20
127 43
24 27
417 448 -
June 30, June 30,
2024 2023
——{Rupees in ‘000" )—
1,599 1,206
208 157
133 350
1,622 4812
22 2718
124 175
16 23
200 200
11,121 13,950

Transactions during the year with connected persons [ related parties in units of the Fund:

For e year ended Juse 30, 2020
Asdl hsd
fiswed A al Juse hiseed Asial Jume
iy for cash N 0,20 e foe cash - 0,04
i} pie]
lis Fupess i W)

Growp | essociated companies
Adamize Lfe Assurance Company Limiled 134 - 33ean Bae . nmw -
{016 Kihan Cesment Company Limied - Employees: Provident Fund Trusd 5037 - 5031 asm o - AMEE -
Mt Paper Production Company limeied - Stall Providen] Fund 52 = 675 : L5:71 g -
Serurly Generd rsurance Company Limiled - Crployess Providest Fnd snd Trist. 127813 26606 - 1848 648 1455 - BadD
Directors and key management personnel of the Management Company T W& B26%8  B5H 173 4708 486
Mandate under discrefionary portfalio services 125 4 8 1258 ] 6478 i - 3
Unit holders holding 10% or mare units 532150 - 592150 -3 - L0685 -

* Thes refiects Ihe posdion of relaled pary | connedled persons stabies a5 al Jone 30, 204
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For five year ended June 30, 2071
Az at 5
tssued As # June lsyed s ol Jumej
July i, Redeemed iy, Hedeamed
for emsh 0,1 for cash X0
p. 1] : A ~
[ [Fupees in ] ——
Adamies | #e Asswance Compsny Limited 2040065 45557 13m417  15GmBE M93 185,759
Idamiee | e Assurance Company Limited - MGF . 405 o] - - i i) .
Mdamiee | e Azsurance Company Limiled - DSF . M3 1113 . BS0  B74E .
0.6 Khen Cement Compeny Limied - Employess Provident Fund Tnust 478,145 125 B30 HBEE 4040 075
MNishat Paper Production Compeany Emited - Staff Provident Fund - 145 625 B 625 - 8000 g0z
Securty Generdl Insurance Campany Limiied - Employees Provident Fund and Trast 110,50 1rar 127 B3 6012 38 5984
Directors and key management personned of the Management Company T X3 I 1 15147 15158
Mandzie under discrofionary portiolio services 100519 195098 189726 158 S45 1A 0ED BSE
Unit halders holding 10% or more mils 11,065,110 5152960 582150 GIT434  IM5M8 373065
* Thes reflecis the posiion of refaizd party | conneried persons sislis as al June 30, 2023
18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
———eeeeee June 30, 2024
Al srmortised At fair value
: through Total
profit or loss
——— (Rupees in” 000") ————eee—
Financial asscts
Balances with banks 136,409 - 136,409
Investments = 2,180,323 2,160,323
Mark-up receivables 88,881 - 88,881
Deposits and other receivables 89,055 - 9,058
Receivable against sale of investments 201,739 201,739
436,088 2180323 2556 411
June 30, 2024
At amorti At fair value
: through Total
profit or loss
——— (Rupees in” 000") ————eeee—
Financial liabilities
Payable to MCB Investment Management
Limited - Management Company 3,584 = 3,584
Payable to Central Depository Company of
Pakistan Limited - Trustee 140 - 140
Payable against redemption of units 47 - 47
Payable against purchase of investmants 647,761 647 761
Accrued expenses and other liabififies 37048 = 37,048
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June 30, 2023
. At fair value
At amortised i | Total
profit or loss
-————-- (Rupees in"0007} --————-—-—-
Financial assets
Balances with banks 314,813 - 314613
Investments - 2374 533 2374 533
Mark-up receivahles 46458 - 46 458
Deposits and other receivables 8479 - 8472

Receivable against sale of investments - - -
369,550 2,374,533 2,744,083

June 30, 2023 -
. At fair value
M "::ﬂm through Total
profit or loss
{Rupees in*000°)
Financial liabilities
Payable to MCB Investment Management
Limited - Management Company 9243 i 9243
Payabie to Central Depository Company of
Pakistan Limited - Trustee 198 - 198
Payable against redemption of units 47 - 47
Payable against purchase of invesimenis - - -
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 1,234 - 1234
10,722 - 10,722

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OB.JECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Fund's objective in managing risk is the protection of unit holders' value. Risk is inherent in the Fund's activities,
but it is managed through monitoring and controlling activites which are primarily sel up o be performed based on
limits esiablished by the Management Company, the constifutive documents of the Fund and the regulations and
directives of the SECP. These limits reflect the business strategy and market environment of the Fund as well as the
level of the nsk that the Fund is willing to accept. The Board of Directors of the Management Company supervises
the overall risk management approach within the Fund. The Fund i1s exposed to market nisk, liquidity nsk and credit
risk arising from the financial instruments it holds.

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or the future cash flows of a financial instrument may fluctuate as a result of
changes in market prices.

The Management Company manages the market nsk through diversification of the investment porifolio and by
following the internal guidelines eslablished by the Investment Committes.

Market risk comprises of three types of nsk: cumency nsk, vield / interest rate risk and price rnisk.
Currency risk
Currency risk is the msk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial nstrument will fuctuate because of

changes in foreign exchange rates. The Fund does not have any financial instrument in foreign currencies and hence
i= not exposed to such risk.
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19:1.2 Yield linterest rate risk

Yiald / inerest rate risk iz the risk (hat the fair value or future cash fows of 3 financial instromant will fuctuate az a
resull of changes in market inleres) reles, As of June 30, 2024, the Fund Is exposed to such risk on iis balances held
with hanks. invesiments in term finance cenificates, imvastment in suluk cerificates and investment in governmant
securities. The Irmestment Commities of the Fund reviews the portfolio of the Fund on a regular basis 1o ensure that
the risk s managed within tha accaptable imite.

a) Sensitivity analysis for variable rate instruments

As ml June 30, 2024, tha Fund holds badances with banks, KIBOR basad inferest baaring governmant sacurities and
term finance carfficates exposing the Fund io cash flow yield / interest rate risk. In case ol 100 basis painis incresse
| docrease in KIBOR on the las! repricing date with afl other varisbies held conatant, tha nol assots value of the Fund
and the net incoma for tha ysar wauld have been highsr / lower by Re. 13,36 million (2023: As. 11.28 million).

Tha compesition of the Fund's investment portiolio, KIBOR rates and rates announced by FMAP s expected lo
change over time. Accordingly, the sensithity analysls prepared s of Juns 30, 2024 ls not necessarlly indicative of
the impact on the Fund's net assets of future movements in interest rates.

Yiald / inlerast rate sensifivity posiion for on-balance sheel financial instruments is besed on the earfier of
coniractus repricing o maturily date and for off-balance shaal inatruments & based on the settiement date.

The Fund's yield / interest mibe sensitivity refated io financisl aessls and financial llabimes as &t June 30, 2024 and
June 30, 2023, can be detenmined as follows:

Jume 30, 234
Exponed t yiakd | imterest rate ik
Yied ! Kot anposad
efectve wrestrin| Upto thme | R o 1 | Morethan | By | Tou
L] month | caayear | " Intarent siah
[T
Cn-baience shesl financial instrumants
Financial Assels
Balances wilh banin 181007% - 20.50% 120,805 - = 0.5 136,409
Invastmants
al e wales through profit ard losa’
= Mlarket Tressury Bills 10.54%. - 20.56%.| 208653 202 641 . . 501,254
- Pakistan Imestment Bords 15.60% - - 330 647 - 330,847
- Pakistan Investrment Bands
- Fioating Rate Bond (FRE) 12.5T% . 570,480 . - 570,480
- GoP fareh sukuhs cerificates 15:40%. - 2 A% 3esT 25 085 - - 344 T2
- Torm Enance carificates - uniatad 21.30% - 22 4% - 404200 * . 404,200
&18.2m0 1,211,408 330,647 - 218030
Profil recestvahis - - - Ba. a8 a8 a1
C=posids and other ecesables - b . 9,058 #,059
Recelvable against sale ol Invastmants - - - 01738 201,78
Td5 17 1211 408 330 BaT 30601 2 #411
Financial Lizbilitles
Payabie to MCB rvsatmend Mansgamant
Limé#=d - Management Company = - B 1584 3584
Paynbie to Contral Depository Company af
Pakistan Limied - Trusies - - B 140 140
Payabie agamst redempian of units E . . a7 a
Payabls ageimst porchase of investments . - B a7, 7E1 | BT
Accrued oxpanses and olher lizsilies - + - 37,045 17 48
a i . BHE581  S86581
On-batance sheet gap (3} T45 175 T11,408 530,647 (470 5k 1007530
Off-balance shest Anancial inatrumaents - . - . =
Off-hatance shoet gap (b) = . : . .
Tetnl interest rate senaitivity gap (s+b) TAB1TS TET.M 33}2'."
Cumulative interest rats senalthvity gap T4E.1TE 1,866,681 2207238
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On-balance sheet financial instruments
Financial Assets
Baances with banks
Ievvessbmenls
al “Eair valers through profit and loss?
~ Markef Treasury Bills
- Palgsian Invesimont Bonds:
- Ficafing Rate Bond (FRE)
- T fnance cariicates - unisked
- Corporats Sukuk carfilicates

Mark-up recelvables
Dropresils i afer recehvables

Financial |iahilities

Payable o MCB nvesiment Managemesi
Limided - Managerssil Company

Payabie o Cantral Deposilony Company of
Pakistan Limiled - Trustos

Payable against redemplion of wnils

Payvable againsl purchase of invesiments
Accrued expenses and olher Rabiites

On-batance sheet gap {a)
Off-balance sheet fimmancial instruments
Off-balance sheet gap (b

Totzl interest rate sensitivity gap {a+b)
Cumulafive inlerest rate sensitivity gap

19.1.3 Price risk

Juns 30, 202
Exposed in yisld | interest rabs risk
Wore Than Not ezposed
Yiald [ effective intarest rate (%) Up'tothres | three months | Morethan | o yield | Total
manths | anduploone | oneyear | interest risk
yoar
Rupees in 000"

12.25% 1o 19.50% 300,701 = = 11912 4613
22471% o Z2.82% 728,304 D638 - - 1,548,960
14T b 21.99% = 338,240 = = 338,240
22 3% 1o 23.34% 18,465 463348 - 481,813
18E51% - 5,520 - ~ 5.520
T46, 789 1627, 744 - = 23458
P = = &5 458 46 458
- - 8B40 8478
1.047.450 1.627.744 BOT.588 GE.B48 2744 080
- - - 8243 9243
- - - 1588 188
& - - 47 ar
- - - 1.2 1,214
5 - 10722 10,722
1047480 26, 156 801,588 58127 2733361

1,047 450 B26,156  B01,588

1,047,400 1871646 2675234

Price risk is the nisk that the fair value or luture cash lows of a financial instrument will Mucluate because of changes
in market prices (other than those anising rom yiled [ interes! rate risk or currency nsk) whether those changes are
caused by faclors specific lo the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial
instruments iraded in the markel The Fund does not hold any linancial instrument that exposes it o price nisk.

192  Credit risk

Credil risk represents the accounting loss thal would be recognised al the reporting dale if counter parties fail
complelely o perform as conlracled.

The Fund is exposed lo counter party credil fisks on investment in term finance cerificates, balances with banks and
deposils other receivable balances. The credit risk on the Fund is limiled because the counterparlies are financial
instilutions with reasonably high credil malings. Investments in Treasury bills, Investments in Pakistan Investment
Bonds and GoP ljara Sukuks are government backed and hence considered as secured.

PAKISTAN INCOME FUND
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The Fund has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy ‘counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral,
where appropriate as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. This information is supplied by the
independent rating agencies, where available, and if not available, the Fund uses other publicly available financial
information and its own trading records to rate its major customers. The Fund's exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously moniiored and spread amongst approved counterparties.

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed in accordance with the Fund's policy.
Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit imits assigned to each
counterparty. The limits are set to minimise the concentration of risk and therefore mitigate financial loss through
potential counterparty failure.

The table below analyses the Fund's maximum exposure to credit risk:

2024 2023
Balance as per : Balance as per ;
statement of .m""'"h statement of .'mh
e || o || e || e
lizhilities liabilities
——————-Rupees in 000 ————
Balances with banks 136,400 136,400 314613 314,613
Investments 2,160,323 404 200 2374533 481,813
Mark-up receivables B&.881 23,964 46458 3781
Deposits and other receivables 9.059 9053 8479 8479
Receivable against sale of investments 201,734 201,739 - -
596 411 775371 2. 744 DB3 B39 566

= = = L = g === )

Difference in the balance as per statement of asset and liabilities and maximum exposure is due to the fact that
investments in govemment secunties of Rs. 1,75%6.12 million (2023: Rs. 1,892 72 million) and mark-up receivable
from these securties of Rs. 6492 million (2023: Rs. 11.70 million) are not exposed to credit risk.

19.2.1 Credit quality of financial assels

The Fund's significant credit risk anses mainly on account of its placements in banks, investment in sukuk cerfificates
and related profit receivable thereon and receivabie against conversion of units and sale of investments. The credit
rafing profile of balances with banks is as follows:

% of financial assets

Rating category exposed to credit risk
2024 2023

AAA 7260 56.43
Al 2697 4337
Al 037 014
M- 0.01 0.01
A+ 0.03 002
A 0.00 0.01
M- 0.01 0.02

100.00 100.00

Ratings of invesiments have been disciosed in refated notes to these financial statements. Since, the assets of the
Fund are held with credit worthy counterparties, therefore any significant credit risk s mitigaied.

Concentration of credit risk

Concentration of credit risk exists when changes m economic or industry factors similarty affect groups of
counterparties whose aggregate credit exposure is significant in relation o the Fund's total credit exposure. The
Fund’s portfolio of financial instruments is broadly diversified and transactions are entered into with diverse credit-
worthy counterparfies thereby mitigating any significant concentration of credit risk.
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19.3

Liguidity risk

Ligquidity risk is the sk that the Fund may nol be able to generale sufficient cash resouwrces to selfie its obligation in
full as they fall due or can only do 5o on terms that are materally disadvantageous o the Fund.

The Fund is exposed to daily redemptions at the option of unit holders. The Fund's approach to managing hgquidity is
o ensure, as far as possible, that the Fund will always have sufficient liquidity to meet ils liabilities when due under
both normal and stressed conditions. The Fund's policy is, therefore, to invest the majorily of ifs assels in nvestmenis
thal are traded in an active markel and can be readily disposed of and are considered readily realisabie.

As per the NBFC Reguiations, the Fund can borrow in the short-term to ensure settlement the maximum limit of
which is fifteen percent of the net assets upto 90 days and would be secured by the assets of the Fand

In order to manage the Fund's overall liquidity, the Fund may also withhold daily redemplion requests in excess of len
percent of the units in issue and such requests would be treated as redemplion requests qualifying for being
processed on the next business day. Such procedure would continue until the outstanding redemption requests come
down o a level below ten percent of the units then in issue. The Fund did not withhold any redemptions during the

The table below amalyses the Fund's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining
period at the balance sheet dale fo the conlractual matwrity date. The amounts in the table are the conlractual
undiscounted cash flows.
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20.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value is the price that would be received lo sell an assel or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market parlicipants at the measurement date. Consequently, differences can arise between carrying values
and the fair value eslimates.

Underlying the definiion of fair value is the presumption that the Fund is a going concern withoul any intenfion or
requirement o curtail matenally the scale of its operalions or lo undertake a fransaction on adverse terms._

Financial assets which are tradable in an open market are revalued at the markel prices prevailing on the stalement
of assets and liabiliies date. The estimated fair value of all other financial assets and liabilities is considerad not to be
significantly different from the respeclive book values.

Fair value hierarchy

International Financial Reporting Standard 13, 'Fair Value Measurement' requires the Fund to classify assels using a
fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value
hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets Tor identical assels or Eabilities;

Level 2: inpuls other than quoled prices included within leve! 1 that are observable for the assel or liability either
directly (Le. as prices) or indirectly {i.e. derived from prices), and

Level 3: inputs for the asset or lability thal are nol based on observable market data (i.e. unobservable inputs).

As at June 30, 2024 and June 30, 2023 the Fund held the following financial instruments measured at fair values:

June 30, 2024
Level1 || LevelZ || Level3 [[ Total
{Rupees in "0007)
ASSETS
Market Treasury Bills = 501,204 - 501,294
Pakistan Investmeni Bonds - 330,647 - 330 647
Pakisian Invesimeni Bonds - Floaling Rate Bond (FRE) 579,480 - 579,480
GoP ljarah Sukuks 194,667 150,035 - 344,702
Term finance cerificates-unlisted - 404 200 - 404 200
Corporale Sukuk ceriificates = - - -
194.667 1,965,656 - 2,160,323
June 30, 2023
Level1 || Level2 || Level3 || Total
{Rupees in "000%)
ASSETS
Market Treasury Bills - 1,548,960 - 1,548,960
Pakistan Investment Bonds - Floating Rate Bond (FRE) 338,240 338,240
Term finance certificates-unlisted - 481,813 - 481,813
Corporate Sukuk cerilicates - 5,520 = 5,520
= 2 374 533 - 2374533

There have been no ransfers between Level 1 and Level! 2 fair value measurements during the year.
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UNIT HOLDERS' FUND RISK MANAGEMENT

The unil holders' fund is represented by redeemable units. These units are entitied to dividends and lo payment of
their proportionate share of the Fund's Nel Asset Value per unit on the redemplion date. The relevanl movements are
shown on the *Statement of Movement in Unit Holders® Fund'.

The Fund has no restnction on the subscription and redemption of units: As required under the NBFC Regulations,
every open end scheme shall maintain fund size (i.e. net assets of the Fund) of Rs. 100 million at all imes during the
life of the scheme. The Fund has historically maintained and complied with the reguirement of minimum fund size at
all times.

The Fund’s objectives when managing unit holders' funds are to safeguard its sbility to continue as a going concem
so that it can continue o provide returns lo the unit holders and to maintain a strong base of assels o meet

unexpecied losses or opportunities.
In sccordance with the risk managemenl policies as slated in note 20, the Fund endeavours to invest the

subscriptions received in appropriate investment avenues while maintaining sufficient iquidity to meet redemplions,
such liquidity being augmented by disposal of investments or shorl-term borrowings, where necessary.

PATTERN OF UNITHOLDINGS

Az at June 30, 2024
Murnber of Number of Investmeont Porcentage
unit holders units amount investment
{Rupaes in "000") e
Individuats 2119 17.920.219 984,630 5184
Insurance companies a ¥E80,710 422 018 22 33
Provident and Pension Funds 31 6.135,980 337,143 1775
Public Limited Companics 3 22 392 1,230 0.06
Aszockaled company 1 154,449 B 485 0.45
Others 40 2.653.968 145 B23 7.68
2202 34567 718 1,859 330 100.00
A=z at June 30, 2023
Number of Number of Investmeont Percontage
unit holder=s units amount invastment
{Rupees in "000") %
Individuals 2,084 30,702,419 1,677,712 61.59
Insurance CoMpanices g9 6,878 753 375,885 13.80
Associaled companios 4 4224 326 230 830 847
Provident and Pension Funds 38 0,982 836 326 926 12.00
Others 43 2.058.631 112,492 413
2I1?B 45.&46&6_1 2723 845 100.00
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23

TOP TEN BROKERS /| DEALERS BY PERCENTAGE OF COMMISSION PAID

Details of commission paid by the Fund (o top ten brokers by percentage during the year are as follows:

Continental Exchange (Private) Limited
Invest One Markets Limited

Alfalah CLSA Securities (Private) Limited
AKD Securitics Limitod

Paramount Capital (Private) Limited
Vector Capital (Privale) Limited

J5 Global Capital Limited

Arif Habib Limited

C & M Managoemont (Private) Limitod
Summit Capital (Private) Limited

S m M s b

Continental Exchange (Private) Limited
C & M Managoement (Private) Limited
Optimus Market (Private) Limited
Paramount Capital (Private) Limited
BIPL Securities Limited

Veclor Capital (Privaie) Limited

Alfalah CLSA Securities (Private) Limited
AKD Securities Limited

Invest One Markets (Private) Limited

Arif Habib Limited

S ENo s W -

ATTENDAMCE AT MEETINGS OF BOARD OF DIRECTORS

2024
(Parcentage)

15.66%
14.37%
13.60%
11.00%
10.11%:
8.79%
7.88%
T32%
7 47%
3.80%

2023
(Parcentage)

30.91%
14.03%
12.01%
7.91%
o0.88%
6.55%
6.36%
5.13%
2.46%
2.44%

The 186th, 190th, 191th, 192nd, 193rd, 194th, 195th & 196th meeting of the Board of Directors were held on July 21,
2023, July 26, 2023, September 28, 2023, Oclober 12, 2023, Oclober 18, 2023, February 02, 2024, Apnl 19, 2024
and Apnl 22, 2024 respectively. Information in respect of attendance by the directors and other persons in the

meelings is given below:

Mame of directors Designation mn::n;:f e Gy Leave past

Mr. Haroon Rashid Chairman 8 8 8 - -

Mr. Ahmed Jahangir Director 8 8 8 - -

Mr. Syed Savail Meekal Hussain Director ) B [ 1 195th

Ms. Mavra Adil Khan Director ) B i 2 192and, 195th
Mr. Muhammad Saqib Saleem 1 Chief Executive Officer 8 5 5 - -

Mr. Fahd Kamal Chinoy Director 8 B 5 3 190th,192nd, 195th
Mr. Manzar Mushtag Director 8 8 8 - -

Mr. Shoaib Mumtaz Director 8 B 5 3 192nd, 193th, 195th
Mr. Khawaja Khalil Shah * Chief Executive Officer 8 3 3 - -

' Mr. Muhammad Sagib Saleem resigned from the Board with effect from October 21, 2023.
*Mr. Khawaja Khalil Shah has been appointed on the Board with effect from November 01, 2023,
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25 PARTICULARS OF INVESTMENT COMMITTEE AND FUND MANAGER

Details of members of the Invesiment Committee of the Fund are as follows:

| 5. No. |I Mame |1 Designation |1 Gualification “ Experience in years |
1 Mr_ Khuwaja Khalil Shah™ Chiaf Executive Officer MBA, Az
2 Mr. Muhammad Asim Chief Investment Officer MBA, CFA 21
a Mr. Awais Abdul Satiar Portfiolio Manager Equilies MBA, CFA 13
L Mr. Saad Ahmed Head of Fixed |Income MEBA 18
5 M. Syed Abid Al Head of Eqguilies MBA, 16
(=3 Mr. Usama Igbal Fund Manager Graduate 20

"Nr. Khawaja Khalil Shah was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer with effect from Movember 01, 2023

Mr. Usama Igbal is the Fund manager. Details of the other funds being managed by him are as follows:

- MCB Pakistan fixed refurn plan XVI;
- MCB Pakistan fixed return plan X\VII;
- MCB Pakistan fixed return plan XV
- MCB Pakistan fixed return plan XX
- MCB DCF fixed return plan [;

- MCEB DCF fixed return plan 1I;

- MCB DCF fixed return plan 1i;

- Alhamra Islamic Money Market fund;
- Alhamra Islamic Income furnd;

- Alhamra Wada plan VIII;

- Alhamra Wada plan 1X;

- Alhamra Wada plan X; and

- Alhamra Wada plan X1

25 CORRESPONDING FIGURES
Corresponding figures have besn re-classified, re-armanged or additionally incorporated in these financial statements,
wherever necessary o facilitale comparison and to conform with changes in presentation in the current year. No
significant rearrangements or reclassifications were made in these financial statements.

27 GENERAL

271  Figures have been rounded off to the nearest thousand rupees unless otherwise specified.

28 DATE OF AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE

These financial stalements were suthorised for issue on Seplember 25, 2024 by the Board of Direclors of the
Management Comparny.

For MCB Investment Management Limited
{Management Company)

_,.-j:-?:f’-;f::;.l‘fn g
P ' Mﬁ“ ’Mai\i?ﬁ
Director

Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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PATTERN OF UNITS HOLDING BY SIZE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

No. of Unit Holders Unit holdings Total units held
1,290 A. 001-10,000 49,469

401 B. 10,001 - 100,000 257,326

289 C. 100,001 - 1000,000 2,207,199

222 D. 1000,001 & Above 32,053,724

2,202 34,567,718
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PERFORMANCE TABLE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2024

Total Mei Assels Value - Bs m million

1899.3297

1

e

(]

2,723 8450 3,210.0250 9,595.3546 21033400
et Assets value per umi - Bopees 549452 56443 543657 542828 542000
Closing, Offer Price 56187 558793 55,5044 555096 554321
Clowimy Reprorchuse Price 54.9452 546443 543657 542828 54.2070
Highest offer price per anit 67.528% 64,2926 607626 594913 62 K085
I.t_m'mh:t'[nprir: per mit 559076 55.0145 555410 54.7R55 550580
| Highest Redempiion price per umit 66,0365 62LETIT 594197 SR.1765 614204
Lowest Redemption price per unil 54.672 543854 54,3115 542148 ShE412
Distribustion per umt — Ha * 113876 EATH0 5.1073 15065 71414
Average Anmunl Keturn - %
i year 215 1618 957 735 135
Twn year 1884 1258 f46 1066 11.05
Thiree year 1575 1.0 101.29 981 .95
Wet Income for thie yeur - B in million 4472426 484,555 6113030 3728311 2120080
Dnstribution made during the year - Re. m mallion 437.091 4773604 627215 S0 100 2047820
Acoumnluted Capitnl Growih — R i mitlion 101516 T.1#%0 (1591009 fg211 12360
Wisighiod nverape Portfolw Dumation | yess ) 16 L4 P | (.58 L6

* Dade of Distrilvmtion

Disclaimar

June 26, 2020

71414

The past performancea s not necessarly indicative of fulure performance and wnit pces and mvestiments and refums may 0o down, as wadl 32 up.
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MCB INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT LIMITED

Head Office: 2nd Floor, Adamjee House, || Chundrigar Road, Karachi
UANM: (+92-21) 111468 378 (111 INVEST)
URL: www.mebhfunds com, Email: Info@mebiunds.com



